The influence of Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in FcgRIIb -/- lupus mice



A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Medical Microbiology Medical Microbiology,Interdisciplinary Program GRADUATE SCHOOL Chulalongkorn University Academic Year 2020 Copyright of Chulalongkorn University



Chulalongkorn University



Chulalongkorn University

ผลกระทบของโพลีไซคลิกอะโรมาติกไฮโดรคาร์บอนในหนูลูปัส FcgRIIb -/-



วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรมหาบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาจุลชีววิทยาทางการแพทย์ สหสาขาวิชาจุลชีววิทยาทางการแพทย์ บัณฑิตวิทยาลัย จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2563 ลิขสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Thesis Title	The influence of Polycyclic aromatic
	hydrocarbons in FcgRIIb -/- lupus mice
Ву	Miss Kanyarat Udompornpitak
Field of Study	Medical Microbiology
Thesis Advisor	Associate Professor ASADA LEELAHAVANICHKUL, M.D.,
	Ph.D

Accepted by the GRADUATE SCHOOL, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirement for the Master of Science

...... Dean of the GRADUATE SCHOOL

(Associate Professor THUMNOON NHUJAK, Ph.D.)

THESIS COMMITTEE

Chairman (Professor SANIPA SURADHAT, D.V.M., Ph.D) ______Thesis Advisor (Associate Professor ASADA LEELAHAVANICHKUL, M.D., Ph.D) ______Examiner (Assistant Professor Direkrit Chiewchengchol, M.D., Ph.D) ______External Examiner

(Assistant Professor Warangkana Pichaiwong, M.D.)

กัลยรัตน์ อุดมพรพิทักษ์ : ผลกระทบของโพลีไซคลิกอะโรมาติกไฮโดรคาร์บอนในหนูลูปัส FcgRIIb -/-. (The influence of Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in FcgRIIb -/- lupus mice) อ.ที่ ปรึกษาหลัก : รศ. ดร.อัษฎาศ์ ลีฬหวนิชกุล

การกระตุ้นผ่านตัวรับ aryl hydrocarbon receptor (Ahr) ด้วยสารต่างๆรวมทั้ง Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) อันเป็นส่วนประกอบหลักของฝุ่นละอองขนาด 2.5 ไมครอน (PM2.5) อาจทำ ให้อาการของโรคลูปัสรุนแรงขึ้น 1,4-chrysenequinone (1,4-CQ) ซึ่งเป็นสารที่อยู่ในกลุ่ม PAHs จึงนำมาใช้ใน การทดลองในโมเดลโรคลูปัสที่เกิดจากการขาด Fc gamma receptor IIb (FcgRIIb-/-)

การกระตุ้นเซลล์แมคโครฟาจด้วย 1,4-CQ เพียงอย่างเดียวไม่สามารถทำให้เกิดการอักเสบได้ แต่เมื่อ กระตุ้นด้วย lipopolysaccharide (LPS) แล้วตามด้วย 1,4-CQ (LPS/1,4-CQ) ส่งผลให้มีการอักเสบที่รุ่นแรงกว่า การกระตุ้นด้วยสารเพียงอย่างใดอย่างหนึ่งโดยพิจารณาจากsupernatant cytokines (TNF-**α**, IL-6 และ IL-10) ยิ่งกว่านั้นเซลล์แมคโครฟาจที่ได้จากเซลล์หนู FcgRIIb-/- ซึ่งเป็นหนูที่เกิดโรคลูปัส มีการตอบสนองรุ่นแรงกว่า เซลล์จาก wild-type (WT) โดยพิจารณาจาก supernatant cytokines (TNF-**α**, IL-6 และ IL-10) และ การ แสดงออกของปัจจัยกระตุ้นการอักเสบ (*NF-KB, aryl hydrocarbon receptor, iNOS และ IL-1***6**) และ CD-86 ที่ผิวเซลล์ ยิ่งไปกว่านั้นการให้สาร 1,4-CQ เป็นเวลา 8 สัปดาห์โดยเริ่มให้ในหนู FcgRIIb-/- ที่มีอายุ 8 สัปดาห์เพิ่มความรุนแรงของโรคลูปัสโดยการทดสอบ anti-dsDNA, serum creatinine, proteinuria, endotoxemia และ gut-leakage (FITC-dextran)

ดังนั้นจึงสรุปได้ว่าการกระตุ้น PAHs ผ่านตัวรับ aryl hydrocarbon receptor (Ahr) อาจจะทำให้ ความรุนแรงของโรคลูปัสในหนู FcgRIIb-/- แย่ลงและเกิดการตอบสนองต่อการอักเสบที่เพิ่มขึ้น ซึ่งเป็นไปได้ว่า เกิดจากการขาดตัวยับยั้งชนิด FcgRIIb ซึ่งเป็นตัวยับยั้งเพียงตัวเดียวในกลุ่ม FcgR ในเซลของหนูลูปัสเหล่านี้ ข้อมูลเหล่านี้ชี้ให้เห็นว่าผู้ป่วยโรคลูปัสอาจมีความเสี่ยงต่อภาวะแทรกซ้อนของมลพิษทางอากาศมากกว่าในคน ปกติ

สาขาวิชา จุลชีววิทยาทางการแพทย์ ปีการศึกษา 2563 ลายมือชื่อนิสิต ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก

6187110520 : MAJOR MEDICAL MICROBIOLOGY

KEYWORD: FcgRIIb deficient mice, systemic lupus erythematosus, aryl hydrocarbon receptor, air pollution, Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons

Kanyarat Udompornpitak : The influence of Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in FcgRIIb -/lupus mice. Advisor: Assoc. Prof. ASADA LEELAHAVANICHKUL, M.D., Ph.D

The activation of aryl hydrocarbon receptor (Ahr) through polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), the major components of particulate matter at 2.5 micron (PM2.5) in the polluted air, might aggravate inflammation and lupus activity. Hence, 1,4-chrysenequinone (1,4-CQ), a substance in the PAHs group, was tested in a lupus model from FcgRIIb deficiency (FcgRIIb-/-) using macrophages and mice.

Although the activation by 1,4-CQ alone was unable to induce inflammation, the preconditioning by lipopolysaccharide (LPS), a representative inflammatory-activator, before 1,4-CQ (LPS/1,4-CQ) induced more predominant inflammation in macrophages when compared with LPS or 1,4-CQ activation alone as determined by supernatant cytokines (TNF- α , IL-6 and IL-10). Additionally, the activation in FcgRIIb-/- macrophages induce the more prominent inflammation than the wild-type (WT) cells, as determined by supernatant cytokines (TNF- α , IL-6 and IL-10), expression of inflammatory-genes (*NF-KB, aryl hydrocarbon receptor, iNOS, IL-1* $\boldsymbol{\theta}$) and cell-surface CD-86, possibly due to the lack of inhibitory-FcgRIIb. Moreover, 8-wk-administration of 1,4-CQ started in 8-week-old FcgRIIb-/- mice, a genetic-prone lupus model, enhanced lupus severity as indicated by anti-dsDNA, serum creatinine, proteinuria, endotoxemia, and gut-leakage (FITC-dextran).

In conclusion, the Ahr activation by PAHs worsened lupus severity in FcgRIIb-/- mice possibly through the increased inflammatory responses due to the loss of the inhibitory-FcgRIIb. These data suggest that patients with lupus are possibly more vulnerable to the air pollution than the healthy persons.

Field of Study: Academic Year: Medical Microbiology 2020

Student's Signature Advisor's Signature

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The author would like to thanks my adviser Asada Leelahavanichkul, MD, PhD, Medical Microbiology, Interdisciplinary Program, Graduate School, Chulalongkorn University and the 90th Anniversary of Chulalongkorn University Fund (Ratchadaphiseksomphot Endowment Fund).



Kanyarat Udompornpitak

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page	è
iii	
ABSTRACT (THAI)iii	
iv	
ABSTRACT (ENGLISH)iv	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSv	
TABLE OF CONTENTS	
LIST OF TABLES	
LIST OF FIGURESxi	
CHAPTER I	
INTRODUCTION	
CHAPTER II	
HYPOTHESIS AND OBJECTIVE	
Hypothesis	
Objective	
Research question	
CHAPTER III	
LITERATURE REVIEW	
Air pollution	
PM2.5	
Penetration ability of particle pollution with different size7	
Sources of PM8	

Aryl hydrocarbon receptor (Ahr)	10
Fundamental Information of the Ahr	10
Ahr Ligands	12
Exogenous/Xenobiotic Ligands	12
Endogenous Ligands	13
Immune system	15
The innate immune system	15
The adaptive immune system	16
Macrophages	17
Macrophage Markers	18
The Aryl hydrocarbon receptor and Macrophage	20
Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE)	22
FcgRIIb	23
Lipopolysaccharide (LPS)	26
Impact of PM2.5 on pathogenesis of systemic lupus erythematosus	27
CHAPTER IV	
METHODOLOGY	
Conceptual framework	
Experimental designs	
In vivo 31	
In vitro 32	
CHAHTER V	
MATERIALS AND METHODS	
Animal model	

vii

Plasma collection	4
Urine collection	5
Gut permeability determination3	5
Immunofluorescent imaging	6
Ethical issue	6
Cell differentiation	7
Bone marrow derived macrophage (BMM) preparation	7
Quantitative real-time PCR	8
Flow cytometry	9
Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)	.0
Statistical analysis	.0
CHAPTER VI	-1
RESULT	-1
Pre-treatment with LPS enhanced macrophage responses toward PAHs	
activator, but not vice versa, in the macrophage cell-line	.1
Pre-treatment with LPS before PAHs activation in the FcgRIIb-/- macrophages	
induced the more severe inflammation than WT cells	5
Prominent inflammatory activation and lupus exacerbation after the activation	۱
of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in FcgRIIb-/- lupus mice	.9
CHAPTER VII	7
Discussion5	7
The enhanced macrophage responses against polycyclic aromatic	
hydrocarbons activator through aryl hydrocarbon receptor by a pre-	
conditioning immune activation, an impact of inflammation to the air	
pollution5	7

Prominent inflammatory responses in FcgRIIb-/- macrophages over the wild-
type cells, an inhibitory effect of FcgRIIb58
The enhanced lupus activity through the aryl hydrocarbon receptor, a possible
impact of air pollution in lupus59
APPENDIX A
MATERIALS AND EQULPMENT62
APPENDIX B
CHEMICAL AND REAGENYS
APPENDIX C
REAGENTS PREPARATION
REFERENCES
VITA
จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. List of Primers in the stud	/ are demonstrated)

Page



LIST OF FIGURES

Page
Figure 1. PM induced cardiovascular and Atherosclerotic effects
Figure 2. Functional structure of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (Ahr)
Figure 3. Mechanism of activation of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (Ahr)
Figure 4. The Ahr functions as a pivotal sensor connecting external and internal
environments. (Image, using BioRender.com, is modified from reference number 84;
Kawajiri and Fujii-Kuriyama, 2017 (84).)
Figure 5. The innate and adaptive immune systems
Figure 6. Macrophage polarization and specific function of M1 and M2 macrophage. 19
Figure 7. Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE)
Figure 8. Cell Wall of Gram-negative bacteria. (Image, using BioRender.com)
Figure 9. Schema of the in vitro experiments in RAW 267.4 cell line is demonstrated
(details in method)
Figure 10. Characteristic of the responses in RAW246.7, a macrophage cell-line,
against a single activation by Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons; 1,4-chrysenequinone
(N/1,4-CQ), or a positive-control stimulator, lipopolysaccharide (N/LPS), and the
activation with the pre-treatment protocol (1,4-CQ/LPS and LPS/1,4-CQ) as
demonstrated by supernatant cytokines (A-C) and signalling mediators (TLR-4, NF- κ B,
aryl hydrocarbon receptor) (D-F) are demonstrated
Figure 11. Characteristic of the responses in RAW246.7, a macrophage cell-line,
against a single activation by Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons; 1,4-chrysenequinone
(N/1,4-CQ), or a positive-control stimulator, lipopolysaccharide (N/LPS), and the
activation with the pre-treatment protocol (1,4-CQ/LPS and LPS/1,4-CQ) as
demonstrated by macrophage polarization-genes (iNOS, IL-1 eta , arginase, TGF- eta) (A-D)
are demonstrated

Figure 14. Characteristics of the responses in FcgRIIb-/- lupus macrophages (KO) and wild-type cells (WT) after a single activation by Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons; 1,4-chrysenequinone (N/1,4-CQ), or a positive-control stimulator, lipopolysaccharide (N/LPS) (left side of each graph) and the activation after the pre-treatment protocol (1,4-CQ/LPS and LPS/1,4-CQ) (right side of each graph) as determined by signalling Figure 15. Characteristics of the responses in FcgRIIb-/- lupus macrophages (KO) and wild-type cells (WT) after a single activation by Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons; 1,4-chrysenequinone (N/1,4-CQ), or a positive-control stimulator, lipopolysaccharide (N/LPS) and the activation after the pre-treatment protocol (1,4-CQ/LPS and LPS/1,4-CQ) as determined by the expression of macrophage polarization genes (iNOS, IL-1 β , Figure 16. The representative pictures of flow cytometry analysis of CD86 (APC) and CD206 (FIT-C), a marker of M1 and M2 macrophage polarization, respectively, at 24 h post-stimulation by Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons; 1,4-chrysenequinone (N/1,4-CQ), or a positive-control stimulator, lipopolysaccharide (N/LPS) and the activation after the pre-treatment protocol (1,4-CQ/LPS and LPS/1,4-CQ) or control media alone

Figure 17. Characteristics of the responses in FcgRIIb-/- lupus macrophages (KO) and wild-type cells (WT) after a single activation by Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons; 1,4-chrysenequinone (N/1,4-CQ), or a positive-control stimulator, lipopolysaccharide

xii

Figure 19. The characteristics of FcgRIIb-/- lupus mice (KO) and wild-type mice (WT) after the once daily 8-wk-administration by control PBS or an aryl hydrocarbon receptor activator, 1,4-chrysenequinone (1,4-CQ), as determined by lupus characteristics (anti-dsDNA, serum creatinine and urine protein creatinine index) (A-C), serum cytokines (D-F), gut leakage (FITC-dextran assay and endotoxemia) (G, H), cytokines from kidney tissue (I-K), glomerular immunoglobulin deposition (L) and the representative immunofluorescence pictures from glomeruli after administration (M) are demonstrated. The original magnification of the glomeruli is 200x, green and blue colour demonstrated mouse IgG and intestinal nuclei, respectively. The picture of PBS-administered wild-type control mice (PBS-WT) is not shown due to the similarity to PBS-KO group. 55

xiii

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Particulate matter (PM) is an important component of air pollution the possible adverse effect upon the healthiness of people in the area (1, 2). According to the World Health Organization (WHO), air pollution causes approximately 82% of the premature deaths (3). More than 80% of people living in urban areas that monitor air pollution have experienced air quality levels that exceed the WHO limits (4). Indeed, Thailand has experienced the increasing air pollution problem that was possibly associated with the negative health impacts (5). PM is a general indicator for air pollution (6). It affects more people than any other pollutions (7). Because i) the impact of most particulate-bound polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) and nitropolycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (NPAHs) contained in PM2.5 against people healthiness is mentioned (8) ii) the particles with a diameter less than 10 and 2.5 microns (PM10 and PM2.5) can penetrate deeper into the lungs and could be absorbed directly into blood circulation, respectively, thus chronic exposure to PM might enhance the risk of respiratory abnormalities, including lung cancer and cardiovascular diseases, respectively (3, 9-12). The major components of PM are PAHs, NPAHs, sulfate, nitrates, ammonia, sodium chloride, black carbon, and mineral dust (2). Among them, the great concern in one of these major components of PM2.5 is PAHs, because of the toxicity of this material as human carcinogenicity and/ or

inflammatory activator (5, 13). The total summation of the main combustion-derived PAHs concentrations (COMPAHs) is more than 50% of the total components in PM2.5 (14) On the other hand, aryl hydrocarbon receptor, the receptor encoded by Ahr gene, is responsible to induce biological response to environmental pollutants. As such, PAHs or 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD) were frequently used as a representative of PM2.5 (15). Accordingly, PM2.5 might be associated with the adverse effects in patients with underlying diseases, while PM2.5 might have a lesser influence upon the normal host. As such, the impact of PM2.5 in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), a common autoimmune disease, might be more prominent than other people with the normal health. Despite several causes of SLE, the functional defect of FcgRIIb, the only inhibitory receptor among FcgR family, is mentioned as one of the genetic defects in Asian population that leads to SLE (16-18). Indeed, the prevalence of the dysfunction-polymorphism of *FcgRIIb* gene in Thailand is common (19). Also, SLE, referred to as "lupus", is an autoimmune disease in which the body's immune system mistakenly attacks healthy tissue in many parts of the body. Symptoms of SLE vary between people and may be mild to severe. In addition, SLE patients have an increased risk of being hospitalized for pneumonia when compared with the general population and *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa infection is common in lupus patients. Additionally, spontaneous endotoxemia has also been reported in lupus patient, despite the data about the effects of gastrointestinal (GI) leakage in lupus are still limited. Interestingly, elevated blood endotoxin, a component of the gram-negative bacterial cell wall, seems to be common in patients with SLE. As the GI tract is the endogenous source of endotoxin, endotoxemia in active lupus may be due to gut leakage (20, 21).

On the other hand, the cause of SLE is not clear. It is thought to involve genetic abnormalities together with the environmental factors. In the previous studies, PM2.5 is associated with activity of systemic autoimmune rheumatic diseases (SARD), including SLE, in an urban Canadian cohort (22). The odd ratio of SARD were elevated among those with higher exposures to air pollution (particulate matter) in two other Canadian provinces as well (23, 24). It has been documented that several major components of air pollution, including trace elements and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, are also associated with the prevalence of SLE. However, the impact of air pollution on the SLE disease activity is still unclear (25). Interestingly, FcgRIIb-/- mice, one of the representative lupus models, demonstrated full-blown active lupus at 40-week-old (21). Hence, our study aims to investigate the impact of PAHs, as Ahr activator upon macrophages and mice from WT and FcgRIIb-/group. While advanced understanding of molecular mechanisms of air pollution affecting immune responses may pave the way for the better prevention and treatment for autoimmune diseases, this study may contribute a novel insight on the biological role of air pollutant in SLE patients.

CHAPTER II

HYPOTHESIS AND OBJECTIVE

Hypothesis

Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons increase the inflammatory response in

FcgRIIb -/- macrophage upon activation of the Aryl hydrocarbon receptor.

Objective

1. To *in vitro* investigate the influence of PAHs, as Ahr activator, upon FcgRIIb -/lupus macrophages pre-activated with or without LPS.

2. To *in vivo* investigate the influence of PAHs upon FcgRIIb -/- lupus mice primed with or without LPS.

จุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Research question GHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

1. Do PAHs with or without LPS pre-activation regulate the inflammatory response of FcgRIIb -/- macrophages *in vitro*?

2. Do PAHs with or without LPS pre-activation regulate the inflammatory response of FcgRIIb -/- mice *in vivo*?

CHAPTER III

LITERATURE REVIEW

Air pollution

Particulate matter (PM) is one of the primary pollutants of the environment which is a worldwide problem (26). Epidemiological studies have confirmed the association between the exposure to PM and increased rate of morbidity and mortality (27, 28). However, data of mechanism underlying PM-related health effects are still limited (29). Indeed, it is obvious that air pollution contributes a detrimental factor to our health. With the rapid development of industry, transport, energy, power generation, and agriculture, the environmental pollution is becoming a stronger threat to the world. In 2016, air quality in more than 91% area around the world does not meet the criteria of pollution flowing the World Health Organization (WHO) for a healthy environment standard (30), which has drawn the worldwide attention. Air pollution is described as a complicated mixture, comprising particulate matter (PM), carbon monoxide, lead, nitrogen dioxide, ozone, sulfur dioxide and so on. More importantly, PM2.5, the small PM with diameter less than 2.5 µm, is now regarded as one of the most harmful factors to our health. According to the data analysis of WHO, in 2016 there were approximately 4.2 million people suffered from air pollution, leading to shorter lifespan, which is mostly resulted from the PM2.5 (3). Many studies illustrated that air pollution and PM2.5 can penetrate deeper into the

lungs and could be absorbed directly into blood circulation, therefore, chronic exposure to PM might enhance the risk of respiratory abnormalities, including lung cancer and cardiovascular diseases (Fig 1) (3, 9-12, 30, 31).



Figure 1. PM induced cardiovascular and Atherosclerotic effects.

(Image, using BioRender.com, is modified from reference number 10; Lawal, 2017 (10).)

Particle matter (PM) is described as any particle suspended in the air. According to the size of the particle, it is classified into PM10, PM2.5, and PM1.0 (32-35). Fine particulate matter (PM2.5) has become a major public health concern because of their adverse effects on health. Lungs are considered the primary organ affected as PM2.5 can penetrate deep into the respiratory tract and reach alveolar ducts (36, 37). Fine particulate matter (PM2.5) has been closely associated with increased rate of morbidity and mortality, especially in lung cancer, worldwide (38, 39). Several potential mechanisms have been involved in the adverse effects of PM2.5, including cytotoxicity induced by oxidative stress (40), oxidative DNA damage, mutagenicity, micronucleus formation and pro-inflammation stimulation (41, 42).

Penetration ability of particle pollution with different size:

Chulalongkorn University

- PM10: Particles larger than 10 μm generally was caught in the nose and throat, never entering the lungs. Particles smaller than 10 μm can get into the large upper branches just below the throat where they are caught and removed by coughing and spitting or by swallowing.
- PM5: with the size smaller than 5 $\mu m,$ the particles can get into the bronchial track at the top of the lungs.

 PM2.5: with the size smaller than 2.5 μm, particles can enter alveolar of the lung. These particles soluble in water will pass directly into alveolar capillaries and dissolved in blood whereas insoluble particles are stuck in the deep lung (1).

Sources of PM

Particulate pollution can be generated directly or indirectly from a numerous source such as vehicles, agriculture, industry, deforestation, chemical waste (2). These particles are of variation in sizes and shapes and can be made up of hundreds of different chemicals. Most particles are generated in the atmosphere as a consequence of sophisticated reactions of chemicals such as nitrogen oxides and sulfur dioxide (43).

The previous studies illustrated biological effect of PM on human by the contaminants adsorbed on the particles being causal reason for multiple health issues (44, 45). Moreover, several researches indicated that the PM composition may immensely alters upon seasons, sources and regions (46). PM2.5 samples in urban areas is reported with chemical components, including inorganic ions, total carbon, elements from anthropogenic sources, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), and biological products (47). Among all, PAHs - one of these major components of PM2.5 is the most harmful component due to its toxicity on carcinogenicity and/ or

inflammation (5, 7, 25). PAHs present in air because of the release from commonly sources, such as transportation emissions and industry process, and cigarette smoke (25).

Thus, PAHs are spread out largely and persistently in the atmosphere (48). Many toxicities, such as atherogenesis or carcinogenicity, results from PAHs (49, 50). Meanwhile, PAHs are well evidenced to induce the toxic impacts by provoking Ahr (51-53). Nevertheless, specific mechanisms uncovering for the toxicities are not yet elucidated. Ahr is identified as receptor that controls gene expression, including CYP1A1, CYP1A2, and CYP1B1 (54). Accordingly, CYP1A1 is an enzyme serving as carcinogenic activators such as B[*a*]P (55). The induction of CYP1A1 includes B[*a*]P and MC through Ahr activation after exposure to PAHs (54, 56). Several reports claimed that PAHs can activate metabolism by CYPs, encompassing CYP1A1, which is a necessary step for vascular atherosclerosis (16, 49, 50).

> จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Aryl hydrocarbon receptor (Ahr)

Fundamental Information of the Ahr

The Ahr is cytosolic receptor in basic helix-loop-helix/Per-ARNT-Sim (bHLH-PAS) transcription factor families (57). It is reported that TCDD, benzo(a)pyrene, and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) impact on cell by directly binding to Ahr (56). Also, Ahr is activated by other cytosolic ligands from exogenous or endogenous factors (58, 59).

The basic structure of the Ahr protein consist of three parts: the bHLH motif, a Q-rich domain, and PAS domains. The fundamental domain of the bHLH motif is at the N-terminal region for promote target gene expression while the PAS domains play a role in a heterozygous protein complex by integrating the Ahr nuclear translocator (ARNT) and the ligand. Q-rich domain is at the C-terminal region of the protein, which help for the recruitment and activation of transcription of the motif (Fig 2).



Figure 2. Functional structure of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (Ahr).

(Image, using BioRender.com, is modified from reference number 60; Xue, Fu, 2018 (60).)

Without the present of ligands, Ahr is suspended in cellular cytoplasm (61-63). Upon binding to ligands such as PAHs, kynurenine, TCDD, 6-formylindolo[3,2b]carbazole (FICZ), and 2-(1'H-indole-3'-carbonyl)-thiazole-4-carboxylic acid methyl ester (ITE), the Ahr complex is initiated with activation. This action takes place by translocation of the complex into nucleus, separated from chaperone proteins, and interacting with ARNT. The chaperone proteins play a protective role for the Ahr from proteolysis and maintain appropriate construction for the binding site (64). The Ahr-ARNT heterodimer is associated with other signaling mediators (such as transcriptional factors, histone acetyltransferases, and chromatin remodeling factors) and ultimately activates DREs or AHREs for promote transcriptional regulation (65, 66). Classical target genes of Ahr encompass Ahr repressor, cytochrome P450 (CYP)1A1, CYP1A2, and CYP1B1.

Moreover, Ahr presents in most of tissues in humans and expressed vastly in the lungs, liver, and brain (67, 68). In the immune cells, Ahr presents in macrophages, **UHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY** dendritic cells, T cells, B cells, natural killer (NK) cells, epithelial cells, Langerhans cells, microglia **(Fig 3)** (18, 19, 69-73).



Figure 3. Mechanism of activation of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (Ahr). (Image, using BioRender.com, is modified from reference number 60; Xue, Fu, 2018 (60).)

Ahr Ligands



The Ahr is inhibited or activated by many kinds of exogenous and

endogenous ligands. Differences in ligand types interacting with the Ahr is capble of

inducing different effects (Fig 4) (74).

Exogenous/Xenobiotic Ligands

The well-documented exogenous/xenobiotic ligands with the high affinity to

Ahr are environmental pollutants such as PAHs, polychlorinated biphenyls, and

halogenated aromatic hydrocarbons. A typical exogenous ligand for the Ahr is PAHs, an environmental pollutant with high toxicity. PAHs is a prominent epigenetic carcinogen and a potent tumor inducer (75, 76). Activation by PAHs can cause various toxicity (hepatotoxicity, immunotoxicity, cardiotoxicity, tumor promotion reproductive toxicity, teratogenesis, dermal toxicity wasting syndrome, and endocrine disruption and lethality) (77). Meanwhile, mice without Ahr (AhR–/–) are not sensitive to the toxic influence of PAHs or PAHs-like substances (78-80).

Endogenous Ligands

The endogenous stimuli of Ahr (81) in mammalian cells, such as indirubin, indigo from products of human urine (82), the respiratory secretion (81), and the metabolites from arachidonic acid, and equilenin (83).



Figure 4. The Ahr functions as a pivotal sensor connecting external and internal environments. (Image, using BioRender.com, is modified from reference number 84; Kawajiri and Fujii-Kuriyama, 2017 (84).)

Most of the natural stimuli which is Ahr agonist depend on dioxin-response elements (DRE) Indirubin, indigo compete with PAHs for occupying receptor and promote activity of CYP1A1 monooxygenase (85, 86). Equilenin is an estrogen metabolite that activate Ahr in HepG2 cells (liver cells) as demonstrated by an increase in expression of CYP1A1 mRNA and DRE-induced reporter signals (87). Endogenous Ahr ligands from the derivations of arachidonic acid consist of prostaglandins (PGs) and lipoxin A4. Lipoxin A4 activates Ahr by inducing expression of CYP1A1 and CYP1A2 monooxygenases as investigated in mouse hepatic cells (88). Furthermore, effect of PG-G2 was determined hepatocytes by dose-dependent characteristics, suggesting that it is possible to augment DRE-mediated transcription although PG-G2 (89). In addition, the metabolites from heme are considered as endogenous Ahr ligands whose bilirubin was the most crucial activator. It is reported that enzymatic function of CYP1A1 might be regulated directly by bilirubin through Ahr-involved cascades in rodent hepatocytes (90). Amongst ligand mentioned above, emerging evidence shows that 2-(1'H-indole-3'-carbonyl)-thiazole-4-carboxylic acid methyl ester (ITE) and kynurenine are novel potential candidate on investigation currently.

Immune system

The immune system fights germs and foreign substances on the skin, in the tissues of the body and in bodily fluids such as blood. The immune system is made up of two parts: the innate, (general) immune system and the adaptive (specialized) immune system (Fig 5). These two systems work closely together and take on different tasks (91).

The innate immune system: Fast and general effectiveness

The innate immune system is the body's first line of defense against germs entering the body. It responds in the same way to all germs and foreign substances, which is why it is sometimes referred to as the "nonspecific" immune system. It acts very quickly. The innate immune system consists of physical barriers (skin, epithelium, saliva, etc.) as well as immunological barriers in the form of various immune cells (monocytes, macrophages, neutrophils, etc.) that recognize molecular patterns or motifs in pathogens through "pattern recognition receptors" such as Tolllike receptors, NOD-like receptor proteins, C-type lectin receptors and RIG-1like receptors. The ligation of these receptors triggers a proinflammatory signaling that orchestrates the early response to infection and leads to subsequent activation of cells of the adaptive immune system (T and B lymphocytes). The adaptive immune system: Specific responses to the germs

The adaptive immune system takes over if the innate immune system is not able to destroy the germs. It specifically targets the germ that is causing the infection. But to do that it first needs to identify the germ. This means that it is slower to respond than the innate immune system, but when it does it is more accurate. It also has the advantage of being able to "remember" germs, so the next time a known germ is encountered, the adaptive immune system can respond faster. This memory is also the reason why there are some illnesses you can only get once in your life, because afterwards your body becomes "immune." It may take a few days for the adaptive immune system to respond the first time it comes into contact with the germ, but the next time the body can react immediately. The second infection is then usually not even noticed or is at least milder. The adaptive immune system is made up of: T lymphocytes in the tissue between the body's cells, B lymphocytes, also found in the tissue between the body's cells, and Antibodies in the blood and other bodily fluids (92, 93).



Figure 5. The innate and adaptive immune systems.

(Image, using BioRender.com, is modified from reference number 91; InformedHealth, 2020 (91).)

Macrophages



cells of the innate immune system, but also important in removal of cellular debris, embryonic development, and tissue repair.

According to the activating state and functions of macrophages, they can be divided into M1-type (classically activated macrophage) and M2-type (alternatively activated macrophage) (Fig 6). The role of M1 macrophages is to secrete proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines, present antigens, and thus participate in the positive immune response and function as an immune monitoring. The main proinflammatory cytokines from macrophages are IL-6, IL-12, and TNF- α . M2 macrophages mainly secrete arginase 1 (Arg1), IL-10 and TGF- β and other antiinflammatory cytokines, which have the function of reducing inflammation and contributing to the enhanced tumor growth and Immunosuppressive function. It plays an important role in wound healing and tissue repair.

Macrophages involve in the elimination of pathogens in tissues. When activated, macrophages can engulf and kill pathogenic microorganisms, release proinflammatory factors, collect, and activate lymphocytes to induce an adaptive immune response.

Macrophage Markers

CD68 and CD11b are total markers of macrophages. For M1 and M2 macrophages, they have specific markers.

• M1 Macrophage Marker

M1 can choose CD80, CD86, CD64, CD16 and CD32 as markers. In addition, the expression of nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) in M1 can also serve as phenotypic markers.

• M2 Macrophage Marker

CD163 and CD206 are major markers for the identification of M2 macrophages. Related surface markers for M2-type cells also contain CD68. Compared with marker CD68, CD163 is more selective to macrophages, so CD163 can be used as a highly specific marker for M2-type macrophages. In addition, arginase 1 (Arg1) and DECTIN-1 are also ideal phenotypic indicators for the identification of M2 macrophages. Studies have also shown that FIZZ1, Ym1 and Ly6C can also be used as surface markers associated with M1 or M2 macrophage subpopulations.



Figure 6. Macrophage polarization and specific function of M1 and M2 macrophage.

(Image, using BioRender.com, is modified from reference number 94; CUSABIO, 2020 (94).)

The Aryl hydrocarbon receptor and Macrophage

Inflammation is one of the innate immune responses. To limit the undesirable consequences of excessive inflammation, factors that modulate the initiation phase and the resolution phase of inflammation can determine the nature of the inflammatory response (95). Ahr is a ligand-activated transcription factor that was initially recognized as a receptor mediating the pathologic effects of dioxins and other pollutants (96). Recent studies have identified the molecular functions of Ahr in the immune system during a steady state and during infection and inflammatory state (97-100). Ahr involves in LPS-induced inflammatory gene expression (101). Ahr deficient (Ahr-KO) mice are hypersensitive to LPS-induced septic shock, mainly because of macrophage dysfunction. Consistent with the enhanced susceptibility to LPS treatment, Ahr-KO mice markedly increase plasma levels of IL-1B, IL-18, IL-6, and TNF- α (102). Activated Ahr also plays a central role in limiting endotoxin-triggered inflammation, resulting in the establishment of endotoxin tolerance (103). Emerging studies reveal that Ahr has a pivotal role to play in modulating immune responses and that activation with Ahr-involved toxicants leads to pathogenesis of immune disorders (104, 105).

Inflammatory responses mediated by macrophages are a part of the innate immune system (106). Macrophages are important effector cells of innate immunity, with a pivotal role in host defense against intracellular pathogens (107). The roles of
Ahr in the differentiation and other functions of specific T-cell subpopulations and B cells in adaptive immune response are well known (98). However, although numerous studies have addressed the modulatory effect of Ahr in innate immune cells, such as dendritic cells (DCs), neutrophils and natural killer cells (108), the exact role of Ahr in macrophage function remains to be elucidated. Increasing evidence have also demonstrated roles for Ahr in the regulation of inflammation and inflammatory cytokines. Ahr negatively regulated IL-6 production in macrophages following LPS stimulation (18, 19). Ahr activation also inhibits caspase-1 activation and subsequent IL-1β secretion in macrophages (109). IL-10 is an immunoregulatory cytokine with a crucial role in ameliorating immunopathology and preventing inflammatory responses, which leads them to hypothesize that Ahr may also regulate IL-10 expression in inflammatory macrophages in innate immunity (110).

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE)

Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) is a kind of autoimmune disease with a strong genetic predisposition caused by complicated factors, it is also considered as an inflammatory disease caused by the mediation and deposition of immune complexes (ICs), leading to damage of multiple organs (111, 112).

In SLE, the excessive immune system recognizes self-antigens and attacks their own cells, resulting in tissue damages and organ failure. It can impact on multiple organs and system such as skin, joint, brain, kidney, lung to name but a few (Fig 5). The etiology and pathogenesis of SLE are multiple and unclear, but which are associated with various factors like environmental, hormonal, genetic elements (113). SLE affects women more than men. Women also may experience more severe symptoms during pregnancy and with their menstrual periods. No cure for SLE exists. The goal of treatment is to ease symptoms. Treatment can vary depending on how severe your symptoms are and which parts of your body SLE affects.



Figure 7. Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE).

(Image, using BioRender.com, is modified from reference number 114; MCVitamins, 2019 (114).)

FcgRIIb



effect of FcgRIIb is observed in mast cell as it has a considerable affinity to FC epsilon receptor of IgE (121, 122).

In line with this, inhibitory role of FcgRIIb also showed in dendritic cells as the depletion of FcgRIIb signaling is likely to boost maturation and activation of myeloid DC (mDC) (123-125). However, FcgRIIb on dendritic cell accelerates function of antigen presenting then augmenting T cell activation, leading to the more humoral responses (126, 127). Hence, the versatile effect of FcgRIIb is dependent on different cell types.

In parallel, FcgRIIb-associated pathway play an important role in mediating two opposite immune phenomena, including autoimmune or tolerance response. It is proved that FcgRIIb-knockout mouse show a high level of Ig and a significantly high anaphylactic reaction (128). Indeed, plenty of immune response in FcgRIIb-knockout mouse was well-observed with lupus symptoms, including glomerulonephritis or autoantibodies deposition in several organs (129). Additionally, B-cells are engineered with over-expression of 40% FcgRIIb that is capable of manifesting tolerance maintenance and autoimmunity impediment (130). Taken together, FcgRIIb is a mechanism for regulating lupus-involved autoimmunity.

On the other hand, FcgRIIb is also found in human Chr.1q23 as lupussusceptibility locus (131). Nevertheless, by virtue of the limitation of antibody to distinguish human FcgRIIb and human FcgRIIa (which is exclusive in human but not found in mouse), effort to optimize antibody recognizing FcgRIIb but not FcgRIIa in human has been made. Moreover, this study explored that there is lower level of FcgRIIb expressed on memory and plasma B cell in SLE patient in comparison with heathy clusters. Considered, reduction of FcgRIIb in context of SLP disease or via genetic engineering could result in considerably excessive activation of B cell, suggesting a prominent inhibitory role of FcgRIIb for compromise autoimmunity in SLE patients (132).



Lipopolysaccharide (LPS)

Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) is the major component of the outer membrane of Gram-negative bacteria (Fig 8). Lipopolysaccharide is localized in the outer layer of the membrane and is, in non-capsulated strains, exposed on the cell surface. Lipopolysaccharides are heat stable endotoxins and have long been recognized as a key factor in septic shock (septicemia) in humans and, more generally, in inducing a strong immune response in normal mammalian cells. Model for bacterial infection in hosts with several common organisms such as Streptococcus pneumoniae, Pseudomonas aeruginosa (hospital acquired pneumonia), Haemophilus influenzae (community acquired pneumonia) (133) and Intriguingly, patients diagnosed of SLE was vulnerable to pneumonia and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection spontaneous endotoxemia was well observed in patients. Moreover, increasing blood endotoxin LPS is reported to be common in patients with SLE. As the GI tract is the endogenous source of endotoxin, endotoxemia in active lupus may be due to gut leakage (20, 21). Hence, the activation of LPS in FcgRIIb-/- mice and cells could be used for the representative model of gram-negative bacterial infection in lupus.



Figure 8. Cell Wall of Gram-negative bacteria. (Image, using BioRender.com)

Impact of PM2.5 on pathogenesis of systemic lupus erythematosus

SLE is characterized by a chronic autoimmune response while the prevalence is reported with ratio of 1 in 2,500 women worldwide (134, 135). Noticeably, any organs can be damaged that might induce the life-threatening manifestations (136, 137). Numerous possible exogenous triggers of lupus by the pollutions are **CHULALUNGKURN UNIVERSITY** mentioned with the limited data (24, 135, 138, 139) and the impact of air pollutants on SLE pathogenesis has never been studied. Particulate matters (PM) in air pollution contributes to impact on the immunity like those of breathing cigarette silica and smoke, leading to a wide range of chronic diseases such as chronic bronchitis, asthma, cardiovascular disease, laryngitis, and lung cancers (23, 140-146). Nevertheless, particulate matter is associated with the exaggeration of systemic autoimmune rheumatic diseases (SARD) (138, 147) with the controversial arguments on its role of SLE pathogenesis partly due to the socio-demographic factors in terms of particulate air pollution (148). The previous studies, PM2.5 associated with activity of systemic autoimmune rheumatic diseases (SARD), including systemic lupus in an urban Canadian cohort (22). The odds of SARD are elevated among those with higher exposures to air pollution particulate matter in two other Canadian provinces as well (23, 24). It has been documented that several major components of air pollution, including trace elements and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, are also associated with the prevalence of systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE). However, the impact of air pollution on the SLE disease activity is still unclear (31). Immune cells, including macrophages which can be affected by PM, are able to produce inflammatory signals upon LPS stimulation, including interleukin-6 (IL-6), tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α), and IL-1 β (149). PM also stimulates migration of monocytes into the tissue (150).

Moreover, lymphoblasts or immune cell precursors exposed to diesel-emitted particles revealed a sharp response by increasing reactive oxygen species, IL-8, and **CHUALONGKORN UNVERSITY** IL-6 (151). This indicates mechanisms in which PM could induce autoimmune diseases like SARDs, via exaggerate immune responses (22, 23). Ahr activated upon different exogenous and endogenous stimuli lead to the divergent impacts (Fig 4); consist of carcinogenesis, drug metabolism, cell development, cell homeostasis, host defenses, cell differentiation, stem cell maintenance, and immune response (84). Because Ahr is the dominated receptor accounting for the PAHs activation, a main component of PM2.5, thus the Ahr-activator is frequently used for studying the impact of PM2.5 (152-158). Although Ahr activation upon wild-type macrophages is thoroughly studied, the study upon the abnormal hosts might be different. Indeed, PM2.5 might be related to detrimental effects in lupus patients with some explaining diseases, while the lesser influence of PM2.5 upon the normal host. As such, systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), a common autoimmune disease, due to the functional defect of FcgRIIb, the only inhibitory receptor among FcgR family, is mentioned (129, 159, 160) and the prevalence of the dysfunction-polymorphism of FcgRIIb gene in Thailand is common (161). Interestingly, FcgRIIb-/- mice, a representative lupus model, demonstrated full-blown active lupus at 40-week-old (21). Hence, we studied the impact of PAHs activator upon macrophages and mice from WT and FcgRIIb-/- group.

> จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

CHAPTER IV

METHODOLOGY

Conceptual framework

Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons with or without LPS induce more inflammation on macrophage cells and in mice FcgRIIb -/- compared to the wild type.



30

Experimental designs





CHAHTER V

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animal model

The animal study protocol was approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of the Faculty of Medicine, Chulalongkorn University, Bangkok, Thailand, following the National Institutes of Health (NIH), USA. The lupus FcgRIIb deficient mice on a C57BL/6 background (FcgRIIb-/-) were provided by Dr. Silvia Bolland (NIAID, NIH, Maryland, USA), and wild-type (WT) mice were purchased from Nomura Siam International (Pathumwan, Bangkok, Thailand). C57BL/6 wild type (WT) mice and FcgRIIb -/- mice at 6-10 weeks of age were used. Mice were housed in a selective pathogen-free facility and humidity and temperature-controlled room. C57BL/6 mice and FcgRIIb -/- mice (asymptomatic lupus-prone mice) were received standard mice chow and water during the whole experiment. Mice could adapt to the facility for 1 week. Control animals received an equal amount of water. Lipopolysaccharides (LPS; Escherichia coli 026: B6) and/or 1,4-Chrysenequinone (1,4-CQ) were administered via a single intraperitoneal injection (ip) once per day. Either C57BL/6J or FcgRIIb -/- mice divided into 4 groups followed the demonstrated protocol (Fig 18) in short-term administration.

- 1. PBS control group: mice will be received PBS (Control group),
- 2. PBS/1,4 CQ group; mice received PBS for 24 hours before injection of 1 mM/kg 1,4-CQ,
- 3. LPS/PBS group; mice received a dose of 4 mg/kg LPS for 24 hours before injection of PBS,
- 4. LPS/1,4-CQ group; mice received a dose of 4 mg/kg LPS for 24 hours before injected with 1 mM/kg LPS.

For a long term 1,4-CQ administration, once daily ip administration of 1,4-CQ at 1 mM/kg or PBS control, following a publication (12), was performed for 8 weeks with blood collection via tail-vein and/or facial artery in several time-points and through cardiac puncture under isoflurane anesthesia at sacrifice. At sacrifice, kidneys were snap frozen and kept in -80 °C for tissue cytokine analysis and put in Cryogel (Leica Biosystems, Richmond, IL, USA) for fluorescent imaging. The kidneys were washed several times in PBS, weighed, homogenized, and centrifuged for the determination of cytokines in tissue.

Plasma collection

Blood was collected by tail vein and/or facial artery. Blood was collected in sterile tube and centrifuged at 8,000 rpm for 10 minutes at 4°C before the collection in the sterile tube at -80°C. Serum detect Inflammatory cytokine measurement including interleukin-6 (IL-6), interleukin-10 (IL-10) and tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α) levels were quantified using Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA) assay. Lupus characteristics were determined by serum anti-dsDNA with the coated Calf-DNA (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) (162) and serum creatinine using QuantiChrom Creatinine-Assay (DICT-500) (BioAssay, Hayward, CA, USA).

Urine collection

The spot urine collection was performed by placing mice in the metabolic cage (Hatteras Instruments, NC, USA) for a few hours (in each time-points) and at 3 h before sacrifice. proteinuria as calculated by spot urine protein creatinine index (UPCI) with an equation; UPCI = urine protein (mg/dL) urine creatinine (mg/dL). Urine protein and creatinine was measured by Bradford Bio-Rad Protein Assay (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA) and QuantiChrom Creatinine-Assay (DICT-500) (BioAssay), respectively. Absorbent OD was measure by Microplate Reader (Varioskan Flash Multimode ELISA reader, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA USA).

Gut permeability determination

Accordingly, FITC-dextran, a gut non-absorbable molecule, was orally administered to determine gut permeability as previously published (163) by orally administered FITC-dextran (molecular weight 4.4 kDa; Sigma-Aldrich) at 25 mg/mL in 0.25 ml PBS at 3 h before blood collection. Serum FITC-dextran was measured by fluorospectrometry (microplate reader; Thermo Scientific, Wilmington, DE, USA). In addition, serum endotoxin (LPS) was measured as another gut-leakage parameter using the Limulus Amebocyte lysate test (Associates of Cape Cod, East Falmouth, MA, USA) and values of LPS < 0.01 EU/mL were recorded as 0 due to the limitation of the standard curve.

Immunofluorescent imaging

The immunoglobulin deposition in kidneys was visualized by immunofluorescence prepared in Cryogel (Leica Biosystems), stained with goat antimouse IgG and DAPI (4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole), a blue-fluorescent DNA stain (Alexa Fluor 488; Abcam, Cambridge, MA, USA), then detected and analyzed the fluorescent intensity by ZEISS LSM 800 (Carl Zeiss, Germany). The antibody deposition in lupus mice with high anti-dsDNA indicates immune complex deposition (164).

Ethical issue

This study was approved by the ethical standards of the responsible committee (IRB) on the study of animal at the Faculty of Medicine, Chulalongkorn University, Bangkok, Thailand (IRB no. 023/2563)

Cell differentiation

Macrophages from RAW 264.7 cell line (ATCC®, Manassas, VA20108, USA) were treated with Lipopolysaccharides (LPS; *Escherichia coli* 026: B6) at 100 ng/mL and/or 1,4-Chrysenequinone (1,4-CQ) at 100 nM/mL followed the demonstrated protocol (Fig 9) in a 5% CO₂ tissue culture incubator at 37°C. Cells were fed with DMEM (Dulbecco'Modified Eagle Medium) supplemented with 5% fetal bovine serum and 1% PenStrep, to promote differentiation into macrophages. Cell were harvested with cold PBS. RAW 264.7 cell line was collected by centrifugation at 2,600 rpm at 4° c, 5 min and supernatant were stored at -80°C.

Bone marrow derived macrophage (BMM) preparation

Mouse bone marrow was flushed from the femurs and tibias of mice at 6–10 weeks of age. The bone marrow cells were plated in petri dishes in DMEM-high glucose with 10% (v/v) Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS), 1% (v/v) HEPES, 1% (v/v) sodium pyruvate and 1.3% (v/v) PenStrep. Cells were fed on day 4 in completed DMEM with horse serum and macrophage colony-stimulating factor (M-CSF). On day 7, cells were removed from petri dishes and cultured on tissue culture dishes in completed DMEM. The 1 x 10⁶ cells/well in 6-well plates in total 1 ml of completed DMEM under 5% CO₂ at 37°c for 24 hours. After the stimulation with LPS and/or 1,4-CQ followed the demonstrated protocol (**Fig 12**). Cells were harvested with cold PBS.

Bone marrow cells were collected by centrifugation at 2,600 rpm at 4°C, 5 min and supernatant were stored at -80°C. Anti-F4/80 and anti-CD11c antibody staining by BD LSR II Flow Cytometry were used for characterization of the macrophage phenotype.

Quantitative real-time PCR

The RAN isolation from macrophage cells were carried out using a high pure RNA isolation kit, the measurement of concentration of RNA by using NanoDrop spectrophotometer were performed. cDNA was prepared using reverse transcriptase. Gene expression was analyzed by 2XPowerUpTMSYBRTMGreen Master Mix according to the manufacturer's instructions and performed using QuantStudio® 6 *Real-Time* PCR system. All primers were purchased from Integrated DNA Technologies, Inc. (IDT), The list of primers is shown in **Table 1**. Cycling conditions of real-time PCR were 95°C for 10 min; 40 cycles of 95°C for 15s, 60°C for 1min. Negative controls are concomitantly run to confirm that the samples are not cross-contaminated. β-actin was used as a reference gene, and relative quantification analysis is determined via the 2^{$\Delta\Delta$ Ct} method.

Name	Forward primer	Reverse primer
Arginase-1 (Arg-1)	5'-CTTGGCTTGCTTCGGAACTC-3'	5'-GGAGAAGGCGTTTGCTTAGTT-3'
Aryl hydrocarbon receptor (Ahr)	5'-GACCACTTAGAGCACCACTA-3'	5'-AGAACTTCAATCAGACATACACAA-3'
Fc gamma receptor IIb (FcgRIIb)	5'-TTCTCAAGCATCCCGAAGCC-3'	5'-TTCCCAATGCCAAGGGAGAC-3'
Inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS)	5'-ACCCACATCTGGCAGAATGAG-3'	5'-AGCCATGACCTTTCGCATTAG-3'
Interleukin-1β (IL-1β)	5'-GAAATGCCACCTTTTGACAGTG-3'	5'-TGGATGCTCTCATCAGGACAG-3'
Nuclear factor-кВ (NF-кВ ReIA)	5'-CTTCCTCAGCCATGGTACCTCT -3'	5'-CAAGTCTTCATCAGCATCAAACTG-3'
Resistin-like molecule-α (FIZZ-1)	5'-GCCAGGTCCTGGAACCTTTC-3'	5'-GGAGCAGGGAGATGCAGATGA-3'
Toll like receptor 4 (TLR-4)	5'-GGCAGCAGGTGGAATTGTAT-3'	5'-AGGCCCCAGAGTTTTGTTCT-3'
Transforming Growth Factor-β (TGF-β)	5'-CAGAGCTGCGCTTGCAGAG-3'	5'-GTCAGCAGCCGGTTACCAAG-3'
β-actin	5'-CGGTTCCGATGCCCTGAGGCTCTT-3'	5'-CGTCACACTTCATGATGGAATTGA-3'

Table 1. List of Primers in the study are demonstrated.

Flow cytometry

BMM suspended in PBS at a concentration of 1×10^6 cells/mL were stained for macrophage polarization by fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)-labeled CD206 (1 µL/well) and allophycocyanin (APC)-labeled CD86 antibodies (1 µL/well) (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA, USA) for the M2 and M1 macrophage polarization, respectively. Then the samples were washed with FACS flow buffer, PBS supplemented with 1% (ν/ν) FBS and 0. 05% NaN3 and processed in a BD LSR II Flow Cytometry (BD Biosciences) using the FloJo software (Tree Star Inc., Ashland, OR, USA).

Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)

Cell culture medium supernatant and mouse serum samples were stored at -80 °C and thawed at room temperature before assay. Subsequent steps were performed according to the manufacturer's instructions. Cytokine levels were measured by Microplate Reader.

Statistical analysis

To detect differences in gene expression, all expression data were analyzed by the Statistical Package for Social Sciences software (SPSS 22.0, SPSS Inc., IL, USA) and Graph Pad Prism version 7.0 software (La Jolla, CA, USA). The results were presented as mean \pm standard deviation (S.D). The Mann-Whitney unpaired t-test was carried out to determine the differences in the expression between groups or oneway analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Tukey's comparison test for the analysis of experiment with two group or more than two groups, respectively. P < 0.05 was considered as statistically significant.

CHAPTER VI

RESULT

The pre-treatment with LPS amplified expression of aryl hydrocarbon receptor (Ahr) resulted in the more profound responses of FcgRIIb-/- macrophages than WT cells. Indeed, the administration of PAHs activator in FcgRIIb-/- mice induced the more severe inflammation and activated lupus characteristics, implying a possible prominent adverse effect of PM2.5 in lupus.

Pre-treatment with LPS enhanced macrophage responses toward PAHs activator, but not vice versa, in the macrophage cell-line

Due to the predominant foreign body recognition property of macrophages, RAW264.7 cell-line was used for an initial exploration on PAHs activation. Surprisingly, PAHs activation alone by 1,4-CQ (N/1,4-CQ) did not induce any inflammatory responses in macrophages as determined by supernatant cytokines and the expression of several genes (Fig 10A-F and Fig 11A-D). Meanwhile LPS, a potent inflammatory activator, without the pretreatment (N/LPS) induced the strong macrophage responses but did not different from LPS stimulation after 1,4-CQ pretreatment (1,4-CQ/LPS) (Fig 10A-F and Fig 11A-D).



CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

Figure 9. Schema of the in vitro experiments in RAW 267.4 cell line is demonstrated (details in

method).



Figure 10. Characteristic of the responses in RAW246.7, a macrophage cell-line, against a single activation by Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons; 1,4-chrysenequinone (N/1,4-CQ), or a positive-control stimulator, lipopolysaccharide (N/LPS), and the activation with the pre-treatment protocol (1,4-CQ/LPS and LPS/1,4-CQ) as demonstrated by supernatant cytokines (A-C) and signalling mediators (*TLR-4, NF-\kappaB, aryl hydrocarbon receptor*) (D-F) are demonstrated.

Meanwhile, LPS pre-treatment before 1,4-CQ (LPS/1,4-CQ), when compared with PAHs activation alone (N/1,4-CQ), enhanced several inflammatory markers, including supernatant cytokines and gene expression of *TLR-4*, *iNOS* and *IL-1* β (Fig 10A-F and Fig 11A-D). Of note, 6 h of control media incubation after 24 h LPS stimulation (Fig 9) set a baseline of all markers as indicated in the 0 time-point in LPS/1,4-CQ group (Fig 10A-F and Fig 11A-D). Interestingly, an enhanced *Ahr* expression after LPS stimulation, as indicated in N/LPS group, made it easier for the Ahr re-activation as demonstrated by high *Ahr* expression as early as 3 h after 1,4-CQ stimulation in LPS/1,4-CQ group (Fig 10F) and perhaps responsible for a more sensitivity towards the effects of Ahr ligands.



Figure 11. Characteristic of the responses in RAW246.7, a macrophage cell-line, against a single activation by Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons; 1,4-chrysenequinone (N/1,4-CQ), or a positive-control stimulator, lipopolysaccharide (N/LPS), and the activation with the pre-treatment protocol (1,4-CQ/LPS and LPS/1,4-CQ) as demonstrated by macrophage polarization–genes (*iNOS*, *IL-1* β , *arginase*, *TGF-* β) (A-D) are demonstrated.

Pre-treatment with LPS before PAHs activation in the FcgRIIb-/- macrophages induced the more severe inflammation than WT cells

Because of the hyper-responsiveness of FcgRllb-/- macrophages towards several stimulations (165, 166), PAHs activation was tested in FcgRllb-/- and WT cells. With LPS stimulation alone (N/LPS), FcgRllb-/- macrophages demonstrated the potent inflammatory responses than WT cells as indicated by the higher supernatant cytokines and the expression of several genes (at least in one time-point) including *TLR-4, NF-κB* and *Ahr* (Fig 13A-C and Fig 14A-C, left graphs). Meanwhile, there was no response in both cells after the stimulation by PAHs activator alone (N/1,4-CQ) (Fig 13A-C and Fig 14A-C, left graphs). In parallel, pretreatment of 1,4-CQ before LPS stimulation (1,4-CQ/LPS) did not significantly altered macrophage responses compared with N/LPS stimulation in both mouse strains despite the more predominant responses in FcgRllb-/- cells over WT cells (Fig 13A-C and Fig 14A-C, left graphs). On the other hand, LPS pretreatment before PAHs stimulation (LPS/1,4-CQ) in FcgRllb-/- macrophages induced the higher responses than N/1,4-CQ

as indicated by supernatant cytokines and gene expression of *Ahr* which were higher in FcgRIIb-/- macrophages than W T cells (Fig 13A-C and Fig 14A-C, right graphs).



Figure 12. Schema of the *in vitro* experiments in bone marrow-derived macrophages (BMM) are demonstrated (details in method).



Figure 13. Characteristics of the responses in FcgRIIb-/- lupus macrophages (KO) and wild-type cells (WT) after a single activation by Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons; 1,4-chrysenequinone (N/1,4-CQ), or a positive-control stimulator, lipopolysaccharide (N/LPS) (left side of each graph)

and the activation after the pre-treatment protocol (1,4-CQ/LPS and LPS/1,4-CQ) (right side of each graph) as determined by supernatant cytokines (A-C) are demonstrated.



Figure 14. Characteristics of the responses in FcgRIIb-/- lupus macrophages (KO) and wild-type cells (WT) after a single activation by Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons; 1,4-chrysenequinone (N/1,4-CQ), or a positive-control stimulator, lipopolysaccharide (N/LPS) (left side of each graph)

and the activation after the pre-treatment protocol (1,4-CQ/LPS and LPS/1,4-CQ) (right side of each graph) as determined by signalling mediators (*TLR-4, NF-κB, aryl hydrocarbon receptor*) (A-C) are demonstrated.

Due to the prominent inflammatory responses of M1-polarized macrophages (167) and the cross-talk between FcgRs and TLR-4 (168), macrophage polarization and FcgRs were explored. Accordingly, in N/LPS and 1,4-CQ/LPS, there was a similar M1 macrophage polarization (Fig 15A-D and Fig 16A-F). Meanwhile, there was a non-responsiveness after N/1,4-CQ stimulation in macrophages from both strains but prominent M1 macrophage polarization (*iNOS*, *IL-1* β and CD86) compared with WT cells (Fig 15A-D and Figure 16A-F). Notably, the absence in the expression of inhibitory-*FcgRIIb* (Fig 17) might be associated with the hyper-responsiveness in FcgRIIb-/- macrophages.

Prominent inflammatory activation and lupus exacerbation after the activation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in FcgRIIb-/- lupus mice

It is well-known that lupus activity exacerbation by inflammation (169, 170). Hence, 1,4-CQ was intraperitoneally administered in 8-week-old FcgRIIb-/- and WT mice in a short-term administration (Fig 18 schema) to explore the inflammatory activity. As such, PAHs activator alone (PBS/1,4-CQ) did not induce inflammatory cytokines in both FcgRIIb-/- and WT mice Fig 18A-C). Meanwhile inflammation in FcgRIIb-/- mice after 24 h of LPS activation (LPS/PBS) was slightly higher than WT cells as indicated by TNF- α (at 0 h and 2 h time-point; equal to 24 h and 26 h post-LPS) and IL-10 (at 2 h time point; equal to 26 h post-LPS) in LPS/PBS group **Fig 18A-C**). Nevertheless, LPS pre-treatment in mice enhanced the responses of PAHs activator predominantly in FcgRIIb-/- mice than WT at 2 h and 6 h in LPS/1,4-CQ group despite the non-responsiveness in PBS/1,4-CQ group **Fig 18A-C**).

Although there was a limited response of FcgRIIb-/- mice in a single stimulation by PAHs activator, a long-term administration might be different, considering the vulnerability against several stimuli in patients with lupus (24). Accordingly, the 8 weeks once daily 1,4-CQ intraperitoneal injection induced anti-dsDNA, proteinuria, and systemic inflammation (but not serum creatinine) only in FcgRIIb-/- mice (**Fig 19A-F**). In addition, the systemic inflammation from PAHs activation in FcgRIIb-/lupus mice induced gut leakage, and endotoxemia (**Fig 19G-M**) that possibly worsening lupus conditions. Notably, PBS control administered FcgRIIb-/- mice did not demonstrated any lupus characteristics despite the increased age of the lupus mice (**Fig 19A-M**).



Figure 15. Characteristics of the responses in FcgRIIb-/- lupus macrophages (KO) and wild-type cells (WT) after a single activation by Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons; 1,4-chrysenequinone (N/1,4-CQ), or a positive-control stimulator, lipopolysaccharide (N/LPS) and the activation after the pre-treatment protocol (1,4-CQ/LPS and LPS/1,4-CQ) as determined by the expression of macrophage polarization genes (*iNOS*, *IL-1β*, *arginase*, *TGF-β*) (A-D). Independent triplicate experiments were performed.



Figure 16. The representative pictures of flow cytometry analysis of CD86 (APC) and CD206 (FIT-C), a marker of M1 and M2 macrophage polarization, respectively, at 24 h post-stimulation by Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons; 1,4-chrysenequinone (N/1,4-CQ), or a positive-control stimulator, lipopolysaccharide (N/LPS) and the activation after the pre-treatment protocol (1,4-CQ/LPS and LPS/1,4-CQ) or control media alone (control) are demonstrated.



Figure 17. Characteristics of the responses in FcgRIIb-/- lupus macrophages (KO) and wild-type cells (WT) after a single activation by Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons; 1,4-chrysenequinone (N/1,4-CQ), or a positive-control stimulator, lipopolysaccharide (N/LPS) and the activation after the pre-treatment protocol (1,4-CQ/LPS and LPS/1,4-CQ) as determined by the expression of Fc gamma RIIb receptor (FcgRIIb) after these stimulations are also demonstrated.





Figure 18. Schema of the short-term experiments by the pre-treatment with lipopolysaccharide (LPS) or control phosphate buffer solution (PBS) at 24 h before an administration by a Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons; 1,4-chrysenequinone (1,4-CQ), or PBS is demonstrated (upper part of figure). Additionally, the characteristics of FcgRIIb-/- lupus mice (KO) and wild-type mice (WT) after the induction by control PBS alone (PBS/PBS), 1,4-CQ alone (PBS/1,4-CQ), LPS pre-treatment following by PBS (LPS/PBS) or 1,4-CQ (LPS/1,4-CQ) as determined by serum cytokines (A-C) are demonstrated.



Figure 19. The characteristics of FcgRIIb-/- lupus mice (KO) and wild-type mice (WT) after the once daily 8-wk-administration by control PBS or an aryl hydrocarbon receptor activator, 1,4-

chrysenequinone (1,4-CQ), as determined by lupus characteristics (anti-dsDNA, serum creatinine and urine protein creatinine index) (A-C), serum cytokines (D-F), gut leakage (FITC-dextran assay and endotoxemia) (G, H), cytokines from kidney tissue (I-K), glomerular immunoglobulin deposition (L) and the representative immunofluorescence pictures from glomeruli after administration (M) are demonstrated. The original magnification of the glomeruli is 200x, green and blue colour demonstrated mouse IgG and intestinal nuclei, respectively. The picture of PBSadministered wild-type control mice (PBS-WT) is not shown due to the similarity to PBS-KO group.



CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY
CHAPTER VII

Discussion

Here, LPS increased *Ahr* expression that enhanced the responses toward PAHs, a representative of PM2.5 stimulation, more prominently in FcgRIIb-/- lupus macrophages when compared with WT cells. The long-term PAHs administration in asymptomatic lupus FcgRIIb-/- mice induced lupus activity as indicated by serum anti-dsDNA and glomerular immune deposition suggested a possible adverse effect of PM2.5 on lupus.

The enhanced macrophage responses against polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons activator through aryl hydrocarbon receptor by a pre-conditioning immune activation, an impact of inflammation to the air pollution

จุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

The sequential stimulation beginning with LPS following by PAHs activator enhanced the inflammatory responses when compared with PAHs activator alone implied the effect of inflammation before the stimulation by air pollution. Despite the non-responsiveness in N/1,4-CQ, the inflammatory markers increased as early as 3-6 h in LPS/1,4-CQ group including cytokines, inflammatory mediators (*TLR-4, Ahr* and *NF-\kappa B*), M1 macrophage polarization (*iNOS, IL-1* β and CD86), and inhibitory-*FcgRIIb*. The crosstalk between TLR-4 and activating-FcgRs (168), without inhibitory signaling, and the shift of balance toward activating-FcgRs (171) might be responsible for the enhanced responses toward Ahr activator by LPS pre-treatment in RAW246.7 cells. In contrast, the PAHs activator pre-conditioning before LPS stimulation did not alter LPS responses implied a non-inflammatory response against PAHs activation alone, highlighted an importance of other components in PM2.5 as previously mentioned (18, 19, 84). Although the investigation using isolated PM2.5 is necessary, our data supported the importance of inflammation before the stimulation by air pollution (172-174).

Prominent inflammatory responses in FcgRIIb-/- macrophages over the wild-type cells, an inhibitory effect of FcgRIIb

The hyper-immune responsiveness related to a defect in negative-FcgRIIb signaling in FcgRIIb-/- macrophages of the lupus model is demonstrated (129, 165). Interestingly, PAHs activation alone did not induce inflammatory responses in either FcgRIIb-/- and WT macrophages but the LPS pretreatment predominantly enhanced the responses of PAHs activator more predominantly in FcgRIIb-/- macrophages than WT cells. Despite LPS hyper-responsiveness of FcgRIIb-/- macrophages (165), the 6 h culture-media washing-out procedure (Fig 12) reduced all parameters into the baseline. Interestingly, PAHs activation after LPS (LPS/1,4-CQ) in FcgRIIb-/- macrophages demonstrated the more severe inflammatory markers including *TLR-4*,

and *Ahr*, but not the inhibitory-*FcgRIIb*. Because of i) the potent TLR-4 activation of LPS (175), ii) the TLR-4 and FcgRs crosstalk (168), iii) the enhanced LPS effect by Ahr activation through NF-κB subunit (176) and iv) the inflammation-induced apoptosis (177-179), the increase in activating-FcgRs (without an inhibitory-FcgRIIb), TLR-4 and Ahr in macrophages might be responsible for the hyper-responsiveness of FcgRIIb-/-cells over the WT (168, 176, 180) as concluded in the previous publications (166, 181). The enhanced Ahr in LPS-preprogrammed macrophages made it easier for Ahr activator for the inflammatory stimulation and the inflammation is stronger in FcgRIIb-/- macrophages due to the lack of the inhibitory signaling. Because both inflammatory cytokines and cell apoptosis are the exacerbation factors in lupus, the Ahr activation might exacerbate lupus activity (182).

The enhanced lupus activity through the aryl hydrocarbon receptor, a possible impact of air pollution in lupus

Accordingly, an PAHs activator was administered in FcgRIIb-/- and WT mice in a short- and long-term administration. In a short-term administration, PAHs activation alone did not induce inflammatory cytokines in similar to the *in vitro* experiments while LPS pretreatment before PAHs activation (LPS/1,4-CQ) induced the higher cytokines predominantly in FcgRIIb-/- when compared with WT mice. Notably, there was the slightly higher inflammation in FcgRIIb-/- mice over WT mice before PAHs

stimulation (after LPS) as indicated in the 0 h time-point in LPS/PBS (24 h post-LPS). Thus, 1,4-CQ administration in LPS/1,4-CQ protocol was a stimulation upon an active inflammation implying that the exposure to air pollution during a slight inflammation exert the higher inflammatory responses. These data also support the enhanced adverse effects of air-pollution in patients with active respiratory inflammation (172-174).

Although the short-term PAHs activation alone did not induce inflammation, the long-term PAHs administration increased serum cytokines only in FcgRIIb-/- lupus mice, but not WT, as early as 4 weeks of the administration and induced lupus activity as indicated by anti-dsDNA, kidney immune deposition and cytokines in kidney tissue which possibly were an early signs of lupus nephritis. These data support the exacerbation of lupus activity through the active inflammation (169, 170). Furthermore, the level of PAHs-activated inflammation was high enough to cause gut leakage with mild endotoxemia at 8 weeks of the administration that might further enhanced the more severe inflammation (164). Endotoxin, also refer to as LPS, is a major cell-wall component of Gram-negative bacteria which are the predominant gut-microbiota with a potent inflammatory activation property than the host antigens (183). Without the inhibitory FcgRIIb, TLR-4 is possibly cross-linked with only the activating FcgRs that causes hyper-immune responses in FcgRIIb-/- mice (166, 181). As such, these data support PAHs-induced pro-inflammation after a long-term stimulation (184, 185) despite a possible anti-inflammation of PAHs activator in several short-term stimulations (186). Hence, the pre-conditioning, the duration of stimulation and the potency of PAHs stimulator might be associated with the different responses. Indeed, the co-stimulation of short-term LPS with PAHs activator reduced inflammation (12, 14) while, in here, the short-term PAHs activation after LPS in our data enhanced inflammation. Although more studies in this topic are necessary for a solid conclusion, a proof of concept in a possible more severe adverse effect from air pollution in patients with lupus is demonstrated. Hence, a proper protection against air pollution for these patients should be considered.

In conclusion, our data supported the prominent hyperinflammatory responses to PAHs stimulation in FcgRIIb-/- lupus mice, over WT mice, especially with LPSpretreatment. Because PAHs is a major component of PM2.5 that activate immune responses through Ahr, the prominent inflammatory effect of PAHs activator in FcgRIIb-/- macrophages and in mice when compared with WT groups indicated a possible more severe adverse effect of air pollution in patients with lupus. More studies are interesting.

APPENDIX A

MATERIALS AND EQULPMENT

1. 6 wells plate (Cell Culture plate)	USA
2. 96 wells flat bottom plate	USA
3. 96 wells PCR microplate	USA
4. BD LSR II Flow Cytometry	USA
5. Biosafety Cabinet Class II NU-400-600E	USA
6. Centrifuge 5415R	USA
7. Centrifuge U-32R	Germany
8. CO ₂ incubator NU-5500E	USA
9. Decimal balance XT-220A	Switzerland
10. Filter pipet tip 10, 200, 1000 μL	USA
11. Micropipette 1, 10, 200, 1000 μL	Germany
12. NanoDrop 1000	USA
13. Pipet tip 10, 200, 1000 μL	USA
14. ProFlex PCR system	USA
15. QuantStudio® 6 <i>Real-Time</i> PCR system	USA
16. Serological pipette 5, 25, 50 mL	USA
17. T75 Flasks	USA

18. Varioskan Flash Multimode ELISA reader	USA
19. Vortex Genie 2	USA
20. Water bath memmert	Germany
21. ZEISS LSM 800	Germany



APPENDIX B

CHEMICAL AND REAGENYS

1.	1,4-chrysene quinone	USA
2.	Absolute ethanol	USA
3.	Allophycocyanin (APC)-labeled CD86 antibody	USA
4.	Anti-CD11c antibody	USA
5.	Anti-F4/80 antibody	USA
6.	Bradford Bio-Rad Protein	USA
7.	Cryogel	USA
8.	DAPI (4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole)	USA
9.	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM)	USA
10.	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELASA) kit	USA
11.	Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS)	USA
12.	Fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)-labeled CD206 antibody	USA
13.	Goat anti-mouse IgG`	USA
14.	High-Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit	USA
15.	High pure RNA isolation kit	Taiwan
16.	HEPES	USA
17.	Horse Serum	USA

18. Lipopolysaccharide (LPS; <i>Escherichia coli</i> 026: B6)	USA
19. Macrophage colony-stimulating factor (M-CSF)	USA
20. Multiscribe reverse transcriptase	USA
21. Normal saline	Thailand
22. Penicillin-Streptomycin	USA
23. Phosphate Buffer Saline (PBS)	Thailand
24. Primer	USA
25. PowerUp [™] SYBR [™] Green Master Mix	USA
26. RNase/DNase free H ₂ O	Germany
27. QuantiChrom Creatinine-Assay (DICT-500)	USA
28. Sodium pyruvate	USA
29. Tissue-Tek OCT compound	UK
จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย	

APPENDIX C

REAGENTS PREPARATION

1. Blocking solution

	5% FBS	500	μL
	3% BSA	300	μL
	0.01% Tween-20	1	μL
	PBS	9.199	mL
2.	1,4-chrysene quinone (1,4-CQ)		
	Stock solution (1 mM)		
	1 4-chrysene quinone	2.5827	mg
	ddH ₂ 0	10.0	mL
	Stock solution (10 µM) การณ์มหาวิทยาลัย		
	GHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY 1 4-chrysene quinone (1mM)	10	μL
	ddH ₂ 0	9.990	mL
	Working solution (100 nM)		
	Stock solution (10 µM)	60	μL
	cDMEM	5.940	mL

3. Coating solution

Na ₂ CO ₃	0.356	g
NaHCO ₃	0.84	g
ddH ₂ 0	100	mL

4. Complete DMEM (Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) with high

	glucose)		
	DMEM	43.350) mL
	10%FBS	5	mL
	1%Sodium pyruvate	500	μL
	1%HERES	500	μL
	1.3%Pen-strep	650	μL
5.	Complete DMEM (Horse serum + m-csf)		
	DMEM	47.5	mL
	Horse serum	2.5	mL
	m-csf (conc. 1.250 µg)	12.5	μL
6.	1X DNase I Buffer		
	10 mM Tris-HCl	78.8	mg
	2.5 mM MgCl ₂	11.9	mg
	0.5 mM CaCl ₂	2.8	mg
	ddH ₂ 0	50	mL

67

7. 70% ethanol

		100% ethanol	70	mL
		Sterile water	30	mL
8.	FACS f	low buffer		
		1X PBS	9.895	μL
		1% FBS	100	μL
		0.05% NaN3	5	μL
9.	1X Pho	osphate Buffer Saline (PBS)		
		Stock solution (10X PBS)	100	mL
		ddH ₂ 0	900	mL
10.	Lipopo	olysaccharide		
	Stock	solution (10 µg)		
		Lipopolysaccharide (1 mg)	5	μL
		ddH20 จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย	495	μL
	Workir	GHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY ng solution (100 ng)		
		Stock solution (10 µg)	60	μL
		cDMEM	5.940	mL
11.	Macro	ohage colony-stimulating factor (M-CSF)		
	Workir	ng solution (25 ng/mL)		
		Stock (50 µg)		
		ddH ₂ 0	500	μL

12. Primer

Working solution (10 mM)		
Stock solution (100 mM)	20	μL
ddH ₂ 0	180	μL
13. Quantitative Real-Time Polymerase Chain Reaction (qPCR)	master r	mix
10X RT Buffer	2.0	μL
25X dNTP Mix (100 mM)	0.8	μL
10X RT Random Primers	1.0	μL
MultiScribe [™] Reverse Transcriptase	1.0	μL
Nuclease-free H ₂ O	4.2	μL
14. Reverse Transcriptase Polymerase Chain Reaction (RT-PCR)	master	mix
PowerUp [™] SYBR [™] Green Master Mix (2X)	5.0	μL
Forward primer	0.2	μL
Reverse primer	0.2	μL
Nuclease-free H_2O	2.6	μL
cDNA	2.0	μL
15. Stop solution ELISA		
$2NH_2SO_4$	2.805	mL
ddH ₂ 0	47.195	mL

16. 50X TAE buffer

Tris base	242	g
Glacial acetic acid	57.1	mL
0.5M EDTA, pH 8.0	100	mL
ddH ₂ 0 (Total volume)	1	L

17. Wash Buffer



70

1000

500

mL

μL

REFERENCES

1. Yang W, Omaye ST. Air pollutants, oxidative stress and human health. Mutat Res. 2009;674(1-2):45-54.

2. Jia YY, Wang Q, Liu T. Toxicity Research of PM(2.5) Compositions In Vitro. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2017;14(3).

3. Organization W. Ambient (outdoor) air pollution 2018 2018 [Available from: https://www.who.int/en/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/ambient-(outdoor)-air-qualityand-health.

4. Organization W. Air pollution 2019 2019 [Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/health-topics/air-pollution#tab=tab_1</u>.

5. Thaneeya Chetiyanukornkul TC AT, and Kazuichi Hayakawa. Atmospheric Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons and Nitropolycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons in Thailand: Springer; 2018.

6. Chowdhury PH, Okano H, Honda A, Kudou H, Kitamura G, Ito S, et al. Aqueous and organic extract of PM(2.5) collected in different seasons and cities of Japan differently affect respiratory and immune systems. Environ Pollut. 2018;235:223-34.

7. Xu Z, Li Z, Liao Z, Gao S, Hua L, Ye X, et al. PM(2.5) induced pulmonary fibrosis in vivo and in vitro. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf. 2019;171:112-21.

8. Tang N. PAHs/NPAHs. Springer. 2018.

9. Zhou T, Hu Y, Wang Y, Sun C, Zhong Y, Liao J, et al. Fine particulate matter (PM(2.5)) aggravates apoptosis of cigarette-inflamed bronchial epithelium in vivo and vitro. Environ Pollut. 2019;248:1-9.

10. Lawal AO. Air particulate matter induced oxidative stress and inflammation in cardiovascular disease and atherosclerosis: The role of Nrf2 and AhR-mediated pathways. Toxicol Lett. 2017;270:88-95.

11. Wakamatsu T, Yamamoto S, Ito T, Sato Y, Matsuo K, Takahashi Y, et al. Indoxyl

Sulfate Promotes Macrophage IL-1 β Production by Activating Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor/NF- κ /MAPK Cascades, but the NLRP3 inflammasome Was Not Activated. Toxins (Basel). 2018;10(3).

12. Wu D, Nishimura N, Kuo V, Fiehn O, Shahbaz S, Van Winkle L, et al. Activation of aryl hydrocarbon receptor induces vascular inflammation and promotes atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-/- mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2011;31(6):1260-7.

13. Hsu YH, Chuang HC, Lee YH, Lin YF, Chen YJ, Hsiao TC, et al. Traffic-related particulate matter exposure induces nephrotoxicity in vitro and in vivo. Free Radic Biol Med. 2019;135:235-44.

14. Rekefu S, Talifu D, Gao B, Turap Y, Maihemuti M, Wang X, et al. Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons in PM2.5 and PM2.5–10 in Urumqi, China: Temporal Variations, Health Risk, and Sources. Atmosphere. 2018;9(10):412.

15. Cella M, Colonna M. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor: Linking environment to immunity. Semin Immunol. 2015;27(5):310-4.

16. Iwano S, Asanuma F, Nukaya M, Saito T, Kamataki T. CYP1A1-mediated mechanism for atherosclerosis induced by polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2005;337(2):708-12.

17. Kerley-Hamilton JS, Trask HW, Ridley CJ, Dufour E, Lesseur C, Ringelberg CS, et al. Inherent and benzo[a]pyrene-induced differential aryl hydrocarbon receptor signaling greatly affects life span, atherosclerosis, cardiac gene expression, and body and heart growth in mice. Toxicol Sci. 2012;126(2):391-404.

18. Kimura A, Naka T, Nakahama T, Chinen I, Masuda K, Nohara K, et al. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor in combination with Stat1 regulates LPS-induced inflammatory responses. J Exp Med. 2009;206(9):2027-35.

19. Masuda K, Kimura A, Hanieh H, Nguyen NT, Nakahama T, Chinen I, et al. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor negatively regulates LPS-induced IL-6 production through

suppression of histamine production in macrophages. Int Immunol. 2011;23(10):637-45.

20. Issara-Amphorn J, Surawut S, Worasilchai N, Thim-Uam A, Finkelman M, Chindamporn A, et al. The Synergy of Endotoxin and $(1\rightarrow 3)$ - β -D-Glucan, from Gut Translocation, Worsens Sepsis Severity in a Lupus Model of Fc Gamma Receptor IIb-Deficient Mice. J Innate Immun. 2018;10(3):189-201.

21. Shi L, Zhang Z, Yu AM, Wang W, Wei Z, Akhter E, et al. The SLE transcriptome exhibits evidence of chronic endotoxin exposure and has widespread dysregulation of non-coding and coding RNAs. PLoS One. 2014;9(5):e93846.

22. Bernatsky S, Smargiassi A, Johnson M, Kaplan GG, Barnabe C, Svenson L, et al. Fine particulate air pollution, nitrogen dioxide, and systemic autoimmune rheumatic disease in Calgary, Alberta. Environ Res. 2015;140:474-8.

23. Bernatsky S, Smargiassi A, Barnabe C, Svenson LW, Brand A, Martin RV, et al. Fine particulate air pollution and systemic autoimmune rheumatic disease in two Canadian provinces. Environ Res. 2016;146:85-91.

24. Parks CG, de Souza Espindola Santos A, Barbhaiya M, Costenbader KH. Understanding the role of environmental factors in the development of systemic lupus erythematosus. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2017;31(3):306-20.

25. Goulaouic S, Foucaud L, Bennasroune A, Laval-Gilly P, Falla J. Effect of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and carbon black particles on pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion: impact of PAH coating onto particles. J Immunotoxicol. 2008;5(3):337-45.

26. Khamraev K, Cheriyan D, Choi JH. A review on health risk assessment of PM in the construction industry - Current situation and future directions. Sci Total Environ. 2021;758:143716.

27. Kannan S, Misra DP, Dvonch JT, Krishnakumar A. Exposures to airborne particulate matter and adverse perinatal outcomes: a biologically plausible mechanistic

framework for exploring potential effect modification by nutrition. Environ Health Perspect. 2006;114(11):1636-42.

28. Tuet WY, Fok S, Verma V, Tagle Rodriguez MS, Grosberg A, Champion JA, et al. Dose-dependent intracellular reactive oxygen and nitrogen species (ROS/RNS) production from particulate matter exposure: comparison to oxidative potential and chemical composition. Atmospheric Environment. 2016;144:335-44.

29. Guo H, Jin L, Huang S. Effect of PM characterization on PM oxidative potential by acellular assays: a review. Rev Environ Health. 2020;35(4):461-70.

30. Shou Y, Huang Y, Zhu X, Liu C, Hu Y, Wang H. A review of the possible associations between ambient PM2.5 exposures and the development of Alzheimer's disease. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety. 2019;174:344-52.

31. Goulaouic S, Foucaud L, Bennasroune A, Laval-Gilly P, Falla J. Effect of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons and Carbon Black Particles on Pro-Inflammatory Cytokine Secretion: Impact of PAH Coating Onto Particles. Journal of Immunotoxicology. 2008;5(3):337-45.

32. Frumkin H. Understanding the health effects of components of the particulate matter mix: progress and next steps. Health Effects Institute. 2002.

33. Li KL, Lin YC. PM2.5 induced cardiac hypertrophy via CREB/GSK3b/SOS1 pathway and metabolomics alterations. Oncotarget. 2018;9(56):30748-60.

34. Azarmi F, Kumar P, Marsh D, Fuller G. Assessment of the long-term impacts of PM10 and PM2.5 particles from construction works on surrounding areas. Environ Sci Process Impacts. 2016;18(2):208-21.

35. Gugamsetty B WH, Liu CN, Awasthi A, Hsu SC, Tsai CJ, Roam GD, Wu YC, Chen CF. Source characterization and apportionment of PM10, PM2. 5 and PM0. 1 by using positive matrix factorization. Aerosol Air Qual Res. 2012;12:476–91.

36. Li J, Hu Y, Liu L, Wang Q, Zeng J, Chen C. PM2.5 exposure perturbs lung

microbiome and its metabolic profile in mice. Science of The Total Environment. 2020;721:137432.

37. Achilleos S, Kioumourtzoglou M-A, Wu C-D, Schwartz JD, Koutrakis P, Papatheodorou SI. Acute effects of fine particulate matter constituents on mortality: A systematic review and meta-regression analysis. Environment International. 2017;109:89-100.

38. Raaschou-Nielsen O, Beelen R, Wang M, Hoek G, Andersen ZJ, Hoffmann B, et al. Particulate matter air pollution components and risk for lung cancer. Environment International. 2016;87:66-73.

39. Pope CA, Burnett RT, Turner MC, Cohen A, Krewski D, Jerrett M, et al. Lung Cancer and Cardiovascular Disease Mortality Associated with Ambient Air Pollution and Cigarette Smoke: Shape of the Exposure–Response Relationships. Environmental Health Perspectives. 2011;119(11):1616-21.

40. Sun J, Shen Z, Zeng Y, Niu X, Wang J, Cao J, et al. Characterization and cytotoxicity of PAHs in PM2.5 emitted from residential solid fuel burning in the Guanzhong Plain, China. Environmental Pollution. 2018;241:359-68.

41. Wang Y, Zhong Y, Hou T, Liao J, Zhang C, Sun C, et al. PM2.5 induces EMT and promotes CSC properties by activating Notch pathway in vivo and vitro. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety. 2019;178:159-67.

42. Szigeti T, Dunster C, Cattaneo A, Cavallo D, Spinazzè A, Saraga DE, et al. Oxidative potential and chemical composition of PM2.5 in office buildings across Europe – The OFFICAIR study. Environment International. 2016;92-93:324-33.

43. Agency USEP. Particulate Matter (PM) Pollution 2020 [Available from: https://www.epa.gov/pm-pollution/particulate-matter-pm-basics.

44. Shang Y, Zhu T, Lenz AG, Frankenberger B, Tian F, Chen C, et al. Reduced in vitro toxicity of fine particulate matter collected during the 2008 Summer Olympic

Games in Beijing: the roles of chemical and biological components. Toxicol In Vitro. 2013;27(7):2084-93.

45. Pozzi R, De Berardis B, Paoletti L, Guastadisegni C. Inflammatory mediators induced by coarse (PM2.5-10) and fine (PM2.5) urban air particles in RAW 264.7 cells. Toxicology. 2003;183(1-3):243-54.

46. Lonati G, Giugliano M, Ozgen S. Primary and secondary components of PM2.5 in Milan (Italy). Environ Int. 2008;34(5):665-70.

47. Jia Y-Y, Wang Q, Liu T. Toxicity Research of PM2.5 Compositions In Vitro. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. 2017;14(3):232.

48. Zedeck MS. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons: a review. J Environ Pathol Toxicol. 1980;3(5-6):537-67.

49. Majesky MW, Yang HY, Benditt EP, Juchau MR. Carcinogenesis and atherogenesis: differences in monooxygenase inducibility and bioactivation of benzo[a]pyrene in aortic and hepatic tissues of atherosclerosis-susceptible versus resistant pigeons. Carcinogenesis. 1983;4(6):647-52.

50. Paigen B, Holmes PA, Morrow A, Mitchell D. Effect of 3-methylcholanthrene on atherosclerosis in two congenic strains of mice with different susceptibilities to methylcholanthrene-induced tumors. Cancer Res. 1986;46(7):3321-4.

51. Denison MS, Vella LM, Okey AB. Structure and function of the Ah receptor for 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin. Species difference in molecular properties of the receptors from mouse and rat hepatic cytosols. J Biol Chem. 1986;261(9):3987-95.

52. Shimizu Y, Nakatsuru Y, Ichinose M, Takahashi Y, Kume H, Mimura J, et al. Benzo[a]pyrene Carcinogenicity Is Lost in Mice Lacking the Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2000;97(2):779-82.

53. Silbergeld EK, Gasiewicz TA. Dioxins and the ah receptor. American Journal of

Industrial Medicine. 1989;16(4):455-74.

54. Hankinson O. The Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor Complex. Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology. 1995;35(1):307-40.

55. Guengerich F. Roles of cytochrome P-450 enzymes in chemical carcinogenesis and cancer chemotherapy. Cancer research. 1988;48 11:2946-54.

56. and AP, Knutson JC. 2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-Dioxin and Related Halogenated Aromatic Hydrocarbons: Examination of the Mechanism of Toxicity. Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology. 1982;22(1):517-54.

57. Denison MS, Pandini A, Nagy SR, Baldwin EP, Bonati L. Ligand binding and activation of the Ah receptor. Chemico-Biological Interactions. 2002;141(1):3-24.

58. Bersten DC, Sullivan AE, Peet DJ, Whitelaw ML. bHLH–PAS proteins in cancer. Nature Reviews Cancer. 2013;13(12):827-41.

59. Feng S, Cao Z, Wang X. Role of aryl hydrocarbon receptor in cancer. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Reviews on Cancer. 2013;1836(2):197-210.

60. Xue P, Fu J, Zhou Y. The Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor and Tumor Immunity. Front Immunol. 2018;9:286.

61. Perdew GH. Association of the Ah receptor with the 90-kDa heat shock protein. J Biol Chem. 1988;263(27):13802-5.

62. Kazlauskas A, Poellinger L, Pongratz I. Evidence that the co-chaperone p23 regulates ligand responsiveness of the dioxin (Aryl hydrocarbon) receptor. J Biol Chem. 1999;274(19):13519-24.

63. Ma Q, Whitlock JP, Jr. A novel cytoplasmic protein that interacts with the Ah receptor, contains tetratricopeptide repeat motifs, and augments the transcriptional response to 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin. J Biol Chem. 1997;272(14):8878-84.

64. Cox MB, Miller CA, 3rd. Cooperation of heat shock protein 90 and p23 in aryl hydrocarbon receptor signaling. Cell Stress Chaperones. 2004;9(1):4-20.

65. Tomita S, Jiang H-B, Ueno T, Takagi S, Tohi K, Maekawa S-i, et al. T Cell-Specific Disruption of Arylhydrocarbon Receptor Nuclear Translocator (Arnt) Gene Causes Resistance to 2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin-Induced Thymic Involution. The Journal of Immunology. 2003;171(8):4113.

66. Schrenk D. Impact of dioxin-type induction of drug-metabolizing enzymes on the metabolism of endo- and xenobiotics. Biochem Pharmacol. 1998;55(8):1155-62.

67. Funk CD, Furci L, FitzGerald GA, Grygorczyk R, Rochette C, Bayne MA, et al. Cloning and expression of a cDNA for the human prostaglandin E receptor EP1 subtype. J Biol Chem. 1993;268(35):26767-72.

68. Dolwick KM, Swanson HI, Bradfield CA. In vitro analysis of Ah receptor domains involved in ligand-activated DNA recognition. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 1993;90(18):8566.

69. Kimura A, Naka T, Nohara K, Fujii-Kuriyama Y, Kishimoto T. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor regulates Stat1 activation and participates in the development of Th17 cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2008;105(28):9721.

70. Monteiro P, Gilot D, Le Ferrec E, Lecureur V, N'diaye M, Le Vee M, et al. AhRand c-maf-dependent induction of β 7-integrin expression in human macrophages in response to environmental polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications. 2007;358(2):442-8.

71. Mezrich JD, Fechner JH, Zhang X, Johnson BP, Burlingham WJ, Bradfield CA. An interaction between kynurenine and the aryl hydrocarbon receptor can generate regulatory T cells. J Immunol. 2010;185(6):3190-8.

72. Thurmond TS, Staples JE, Silverstone AE, Gasiewicz TA. The Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor Has a Role in the in Vivo Maturation of Murine Bone Marrow B Lymphocytes and Their Response to 2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin. Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology. 2000;165(3):227-36.

73. Wagage S, John B, Krock BL, Hall AO, Randall LM, Karp CL, et al. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor promotes IL-10 production by NK cells. J Immunol. 2014;192(4):1661-70.

74. Smith KJ, Murray IA, Tanos R, Tellew J, Boitano AE, Bisson WH, et al. Identification of a high-affinity ligand that exhibits complete aryl hydrocarbon receptor antagonism. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 2011;338(1):318-27.

75. Knerr S, Schrenk D. Carcinogenicity of 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin in experimental models. Molecular Nutrition & Food Research. 2006;50(10):897-907.

76. Bock KW, Köhle C. Ah receptor- and TCDD-mediated liver tumor promotion: clonal selection and expansion of cells evading growth arrest and apoptosis. Biochemical Pharmacology. 2005;69(10):1403-8.

77. Denison MS, Soshilov AA, He G, DeGroot DE, Zhao B. Exactly the same but different: promiscuity and diversity in the molecular mechanisms of action of the aryl hydrocarbon (dioxin) receptor. Toxicol Sci. 2011;124(1):1-22.

78. Kerkvliet NI. AHR-mediated immunomodulation: The role of altered gene transcription. Biochemical Pharmacology. 2009;77(4):746-60.

79. Kopec AK, Burgoon LD, Ibrahim-Aibo D, Burg AR, Lee AW, Tashiro C, et al. Automated Dose-Response Analysis and Comparative Toxicogenomic Evaluation of the Hepatic Effects Elicited by TCDD, TCDF, and PCB126 in C57BL/6 Mice. Toxicological Sciences. 2010;118(1):286-97.

80. Kopf PG, Scott JA, Agbor LN, Boberg JR, Elased KM, Huwe JK, et al. Cytochrome P4501A1 Is Required for Vascular Dysfunction and Hypertension Induced by 2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-Dioxin. Toxicological Sciences. 2010;117(2):537-46.

81. Song J, Clagett-Dame M, Peterson RE, Hahn ME, Westler WM, Sicinski RR, et al. A ligand for the aryl hydrocarbon receptor isolated from lung. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.

2002;99(23):14694-9.

82. Adachi J, Mori Y, Matsui S, Takigami H, Fujino J, Kitagawa H, et al. Indirubin and Indigo Are Potent Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor Ligands Present in Human Urine*. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2001;276(34):31475-8.

83. Nguyen LP, Bradfield CA. The Search for Endogenous Activators of the Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor. Chemical Research in Toxicology. 2008;21(1):102-16.

84. Kawajiri K, Fujii-Kuriyama Y. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor: a multifunctional chemical sensor for host defense and homeostatic maintenance. Exp Anim. 2017;66(2):75-89.

85. Peter Guengerich F, Martin MV, McCormick WA, Nguyen LP, Glover E, Bradfield CA. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor response to indigoids in vitro and in vivo. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics. 2004;423(2):309-16.

86. Sugihara K, Kitamura S, Yamada T, Okayama T, Ohta S, Yamashita K, et al. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor-mediated induction of microsomal drug-metabolizing enzyme activity by indirubin and indigo. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications. 2004;318(2):571-8.

87. Jinno A, Maruyama Y, Ishizuka M, Kazusaka A, Nakamura A, Fujita S. Induction of cytochrome P450-1A by the equine estrogen equilenin, a new endogenous aryl hydrocarbon receptor ligand. The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology. 2006;98(1):48-55.

88. Schaldach CM, Riby J, Bjeldanes LF. Lipoxin A4: A New Class of Ligand for the Ah Receptor. Biochemistry. 1999;38(23):7594-600.

89. Seidel SD, Winters GM, Rogers WJ, Ziccardi MH, Li V, Keser B, et al. Activation of the Ah Receptor Signaling Pathway by Prostaglandins. Journal of Biochemical and Molecular Toxicology. 2001;15(4):187-96.

90. Sinal CJ, Bend JR. Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor-Dependent Induction of Cyp1a1

by Bilirubin in Mouse Hepatoma Hepa 1c1c7 Cells. Molecular Pharmacology. 1997;52(4):590.

91. InformedHealth. The innate and adaptive immune systems. IQWiG (Institute for Quality and Efficiency in Health Care). 2020.

92. Pifferi C. Innate, Adaptative, Passive-Active Immunities 2020 [Available from: http://www.glycopedia.eu/e-chapters/Overview-of-Immune-Responses-A-Primer-72/Innate-Adaptative-Passive-Active-Immunities.

93. Patel P, Chatterjee S. Chapter 1 - Innate and Adaptive Immunity: Barriers and Receptor-Based Recognition. In: Chatterjee S, Jungraithmayr W, Bagchi D, editors. Immunity and Inflammation in Health and Disease: Academic Press; 2018. p. 3-13.

94. CUSABIO. Two Types of Macrophages: M1 and M2 Macrophages 2020 [Available from: <u>https://www.cusabio.com/c-20938.html#a01</u>.

95. Anderson P. Post-transcriptional regulons coordinate the initiation and resolution of inflammation. Nature Reviews Immunology. 2010;10(1):24-35.

96. Esser C, Rannug A. The Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor in Barrier Organ Physiology, Immunology, and Toxicology. Pharmacological Reviews. 2015;67(2):259.

97. Stockinger B, Meglio PD, Gialitakis M, Duarte JH. The Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor: Multitasking in the Immune System. Annual Review of Immunology. 2014;32(1):403-32.

98. Quintana FJ, Sherr DH. Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor Control of Adaptive Immunity. Pharmacological Reviews. 2013;65(4):1148.

99. Wheeler MA, Rothhammer V, Quintana FJ. Control of immune-mediated pathology via the aryl hydrocarbon receptor. J Biol Chem. 2017;292(30):12383-9.

100. Shinde R, Hezaveh K, Halaby MJ, Kloetgen A, Chakravarthy A, da Silva Medina T, et al. Apoptotic cell–induced AhR activity is required for immunological tolerance and suppression of systemic lupus erythematosus in mice and humans. Nature Immunology. 2018;19(6):571-82.

101. Wu D, Li W, Lok P, Matsumura F, Adam Vogel CF. AhR deficiency impairs expression of LPS-induced inflammatory genes in mice. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications. 2011;410(2):358-63.

102. Sekine H, Mimura J, Oshima M, Okawa H, Kanno J, Igarashi K, et al. Hypersensitivity of Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor-Deficient Mice to Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Septic Shock. Molecular and Cellular Biology. 2009;29(24):6391.

103. Bessede A, Gargaro M, Pallotta MT, Matino D, Servillo G, Brunacci C, et al. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor control of a disease tolerance defence pathway. Nature. 2014;511(7508):184-90.

104. Vogel CF, Khan EM, Leung PS, Gershwin ME, Chang WL, Wu D, et al. Cross-talk between aryl hydrocarbon receptor and the inflammatory response: a role for nuclear factor- κ B. J Biol Chem. 2014;289(3):1866-75.

105. Marshall NB, Kerkvliet NI. Dioxin and immune regulation: emerging role of aryl hydrocarbon receptor in the generation of regulatory T cells. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2010;1183:25-37.

106. Yi Y-S. Caspase-11 non-canonical inflammasome: a critical sensor of intracellular lipopolysaccharide in macrophage-mediated inflammatory responses. Immunology. 2017;152(2):207-17.

107. Na YR, Jung D, Gu GJ, Jang AR, Suh Y-H, Seok SH. The early synthesis of p35 and activation of CDK5 in LPS-stimulated macrophages suppresses interleukin-10 production. Science Signaling. 2015;8(404):ra121.

108. Hanieh H. Toward Understanding the Role of Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor in the Immune System: Current Progress and Future Trends. BioMed Research International. 2014;2014:520763.

109. Huai W, Zhao R, Song H, Zhao J, Zhang L, Zhang L, et al. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor negatively regulates NLRP3 inflammasome activity by inhibiting NLRP3

transcription. Nature Communications. 2014;5(1):4738.

110. Zhu J, Luo L, Tian L, Yin S, Ma X, Cheng S, et al. Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor Promotes IL-10 Expression in Inflammatory Macrophages Through Src-STAT3 Signaling Pathway. Frontiers in Immunology. 2018;9(2033).

111. Zhu X-W, Wang Y, Wei Y-H, Zhao P-P, Wang X-B, Rong J-J, et al. Comprehensive Assessment of the Association between FCGRs polymorphisms and the risk of systemic lupus erythematosus: Evidence from a Meta-Analysis. Scientific Reports. 2016;6(1):31617.

112. Harley JB, Kelly JA, Kaufman KM. Unraveling the genetics of systemic lupus erythematosus. Springer Seminars in Immunopathology. 2006;28(2):119-30.

113. Prevention CfDCa. Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) 2018 [Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/lupus/facts/detailed.html.

114. MCVitamins. Lupus and Neuropathy (Nerve Damage): MCVitamins.com 2019 [Available from: <u>https://www.mcvitamins.com/causes%20of%20neuropathy/lupus-neuropathy.htm</u>.

115. Daëron M. Fc receptor biology. Annu Rev Immunol. 1997;15:203-34.

116. Ravetch JV, Bolland S. IgG Fc receptors. Annu Rev Immunol. 2001;19:275-90.

117. Amigorena S, Bonnerot C, Drake JR, Choquet D, Hunziker W, Guillet JG, et al. Cytoplasmic domain heterogeneity and functions of IgG Fc receptors in B lymphocytes. Science. 1992;256(5065):1808-12.

118. Ono M, Bolland S, Tempst P, Ravetch JV. Role of the inositol phosphatase SHIP in negative regulation of the immune system by the receptor Fc(gamma)RIIB. Nature. 1996;383(6597):263-6.

119. Hunter S, Indik ZK, Kim MK, Cauley MD, Park JG, Schreiber AD. Inhibition of Fcgamma receptor-mediated phagocytosis by a nonphagocytic Fcgamma receptor. Blood. 1998;91(5):1762-8.

120. Pricop L, Redecha P, Teillaud JL, Frey J, Fridman WH, Sautès-Fridman C, et al. Differential modulation of stimulatory and inhibitory Fc gamma receptors on human monocytes by Th1 and Th2 cytokines. J Immunol. 2001;166(1):531-7.

121. Katz HR. Inhibitory receptors and allergy. Curr Opin Immunol. 2002;14(6):698-704.

122. Ott VL, Tamir I, Niki M, Pandolfi PP, Cambier JC. Downstream of kinase, p62(dok), is a mediator of Fc gamma IIB inhibition of Fc epsilon RI signaling. J Immunol. 2002;168(9):4430-9.

123. Boruchov AM, Heller G, Veri MC, Bonvini E, Ravetch JV, Young JW. Activating and inhibitory IgG Fc receptors on human DCs mediate opposing functions. J Clin Invest. 2005;115(10):2914-23.

124. Dhodapkar KM, Kaufman JL, Ehlers M, Banerjee DK, Bonvini E, Koenig S, et al. Selective blockade of inhibitory Fcgamma receptor enables human dendritic cell maturation with IL-12p70 production and immunity to antibody-coated tumor cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005;102(8):2910-5.

125. Samsom JN, van Berkel LA, van Helvoort JM, Unger WW, Jansen W, Thepen T, et al. Fc gamma RIIB regulates nasal and oral tolerance: a role for dendritic cells. J Immunol. 2005;174(9):5279-87.

126. Bergtold A, Desai DD, Gavhane A, Clynes R. Cell surface recycling of internalized antigen permits dendritic cell priming of B cells. Immunity. 2005;23(5):503-14.

127. Qin D, Wu J, Vora KA, Ravetch JV, Szakal AK, Manser T, et al. Fc gamma receptor IIB on follicular dendritic cells regulates the B cell recall response. J Immunol. 2000;164(12):6268-75.

128. Takai T, Ono M, Hikida M, Ohmori H, Ravetch JV. Augmented humoral and anaphylactic responses in Fc gamma RII-deficient mice. Nature. 1996;379(6563):346-9.

129. Bolland S, Ravetch JV. Spontaneous autoimmune disease in Fc(gamma)RIIB-

deficient mice results from strain-specific epistasis. Immunity. 2000;13(2):277-85.

130. McGaha TL, Sorrentino B, Ravetch JV. Restoration of tolerance in lupus by targeted inhibitory receptor expression. Science. 2005;307(5709):590-3.

131. Wakeland EK, Liu K, Graham RR, Behrens TW. Delineating the genetic basis of systemic lupus erythematosus. Immunity. 2001;15(3):397-408.

132. Su K, Yang H, Li X, Li X, Gibson AW, Cafardi JM, et al. Expression profile of FcgammaRIIb on leukocytes and its dysregulation in systemic lupus erythematosus. J Immunol. 2007;178(5):3272-80.

133. Hraiech S, Papazian L, Rolain JM, Bregeon F. Animal models of polymicrobial pneumonia. Drug Des Devel Ther. 2015;9:3279-92.

134. Carter EE, Barr SG, Clarke AE. The global burden of SLE: prevalence, health disparities and socioeconomic impact. Nat Rev Rheumatol. 2016;12(10):605-20.

135. Leffers HCB, Lange T, Collins C, Ulff-Møller CJ, Jacobsen S. The study of interactions between genome and exposome in the development of systemic lupus erythematosus. Autoimmun Rev. 2019;18(4):382-92.

136. Sciascia S, Radin M, Roccatello D, Sanna G, Bertolaccini ML. Recent advances in the management of systemic lupus erythematosus. F1000Res. 2018;7.

137. Roccatello D, Sciascia S, Baldovino S, Rossi D, Alpa M, Naretto C, et al. A 4-year observation in lupus nephritis patients treated with an intensified B-lymphocyte depletion without immunosuppressive maintenance treatment-Clinical response compared to literature and immunological re-assessment. Autoimmun Rev. 2015;14(12):1123-30.

138. Zhao CN, Xu Z, Wu GC, Mao YM, Liu LN, Qian W, et al. Emerging role of air pollution in autoimmune diseases. Autoimmun Rev. 2019;18(6):607-14.

139. Cooper GS, Parks CG, Schur PS, Fraser PA. Occupational and environmental associations with antinuclear antibodies in a general population sample. J Toxicol

Environ Health A. 2006;69(23):2063-9.

140. Xu X, Wang G, Chen N, Lu T, Nie S, Xu G, et al. Long-Term Exposure to Air Pollution and Increased Risk of Membranous Nephropathy in China. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2016;27(12):3739-46.

141. Argacha JF, Collart P, Wauters A, Kayaert P, Lochy S, Schoors D, et al. Air pollution and ST-elevation myocardial infarction: A case-crossover study of the Belgian STEMI registry 2009-2013. Int J Cardiol. 2016;223:300-5.

142. Bowe B, Xie Y, Li T, Yan Y, Xian H, Al-Aly Z. Particulate Matter Air Pollution and the Risk of Incident CKD and Progression to ESRD. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2018;29(1):218-30.

143. Lelieveld J, Evans JS, Fnais M, Giannadaki D, Pozzer A. The contribution of outdoor air pollution sources to premature mortality on a global scale. Nature. 2015;525(7569):367-71.

144. Mo Z, Fu Q, Zhang L, Lyu D, Mao G, Wu L, et al. Acute effects of air pollution on respiratory disease mortalities and outpatients in Southeastern China. Sci Rep. 2018;8(1):3461.

145. Shah AS, Lee KK, McAllister DA, Hunter A, Nair H, Whiteley W, et al. Short term exposure to air pollution and stroke: systematic review and meta-analysis. Bmj. 2015;350:h1295.

146. Gauderman WJ, Urman R, Avol E, Berhane K, McConnell R, Rappaport E, et al. Association of improved air quality with lung development in children. N Engl J Med. 2015;372(10):905-13.

147. Farhat SC, Silva CA, Orione MA, Campos LM, Sallum AM, Braga AL. Air pollution in autoimmune rheumatic diseases: a review. Autoimmun Rev. 2011;11(1):14-21.

148. Gilcrease GW, Padovan D, Heffler E, Peano C, Massaglia S, Roccatello D, et al. Is air pollution affecting the disease activity in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus? State of the art and a systematic literature review. Eur J Rheumatol. 2020;7(1):31-4.

149. van Eeden SF, Tan WC, Suwa T, Mukae H, Terashima T, Fujii T, et al. Cytokines involved in the systemic inflammatory response induced by exposure to particulate matter air pollutants (PM(10)). Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2001;164(5):826-30.

150. Ishii H, Hayashi S, Hogg JC, Fujii T, Goto Y, Sakamoto N, et al. Alveolar macrophage-epithelial cell interaction following exposure to atmospheric particles induces the release of mediators involved in monocyte mobilization and recruitment. Respir Res. 2005;6(1):87.

151. Vattanasit U, Navasumrit P, Khadka MB, Kanitwithayanun J, Promvijit J, Autrup H, et al. Oxidative DNA damage and inflammatory responses in cultured human cells and in humans exposed to traffic-related particles. Int J Hyg Environ Health. 2014;217(1):23-33.

152. Feng S, Duan E, Shi X, Zhang H, Li H, Zhao Y, et al. Hydrogen ameliorates lung injury in a rat model of subacute exposure to concentrated ambient PM2.5 via Aryl hydrocarbon receptor. Int Immunopharmacol. 2019;77:105939.

153. Zhang H, Yao Y, Chen Y, Yue C, Chen J, Tong J, et al. Crosstalk between AhR and wnt/ β -catenin signal pathways in the cardiac developmental toxicity of PM2.5 in zebrafish embryos. Toxicology. 2016;355-356:31-8.

154. Líbalová H, Krčková S, Uhlířová K, Milcová A, Schmuczerová J, Ciganek M, et al. Genotoxicity but not the AhR-mediated activity of PAHs is inhibited by other components of complex mixtures of ambient air pollutants. Toxicology Letters. 2014;225(3):350-7.

155. Borgie M, Ledoux F, Verdin A, Cazier F, Greige H, Shirali P, et al. Genotoxic and epigenotoxic effects of fine particulate matter from rural and urban sites in Lebanon on human bronchial epithelial cells. Environ Res. 2015;136:352-62.

156. Chen T, Jin H, Wang H, Yao Y, Aniagu S, Tong J, et al. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor

mediates the cardiac developmental toxicity of EOM from PM(2.5) in P19 embryonic carcinoma cells. Chemosphere. 2019;216:372-8.

157. Ren F, Ji C, Huang Y, Aniagu S, Jiang Y, Chen T. AHR-mediated ROS production contributes to the cardiac developmental toxicity of PM2.5 in zebrafish embryos. Sci Total Environ. 2020;719:135097.

158. Mesquita SR, van Drooge BL, Reche C, Guimarães L, Grimalt JO, Barata C, et al. Toxic assessment of urban atmospheric particle-bound PAHs: relevance of composition and particle size in Barcelona (Spain). Environ Pollut. 2014;184:555-62.

159. Crispín JC, Hedrich CM, Tsokos GC. Gene-function studies in systemic lupus erythematosus. Nat Rev Rheumatol. 2013;9(8):476-84.

160. Clatworthy MR, Willcocks L, Urban B, Langhorne J, Williams TN, Peshu N, et al. Systemic lupus erythematosus-associated defects in the inhibitory receptor FcgammaRIIb reduce susceptibility to malaria. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2007;104(17):7169-74.

161. Pan F, Zhang K, Li X, Xu J, Hao J, Ye D. Association of Fcγ receptor IIB gene polymorphism with genetic susceptibility to systemic lupus erythematosus in Chinese populations—A family-based association study. Journal of Dermatological Science. 2006;43(1):35-41.

162. Mihara M, Tan I, Chuzhin Y, Reddy B, Budhai L, Holzer A, et al. CTLA4Ig inhibits T cell-dependent B-cell maturation in murine systemic lupus erythematosus. J Clin Invest. 2000;106(1):91-101.

163. Leelahavanichkul A, Worasilchai N, Wannalerdsakun S, Jutivorakool K, Somparn P, Issara-Amphorn J, et al. Gastrointestinal Leakage Detected by Serum $(1 \rightarrow 3)$ - β -D-Glucan in Mouse Models and a Pilot Study in Patients with Sepsis. Shock. 2016;46(5):506-18.

164. Thim-Uam A, Surawut S, Issara-Amphorn J, Jaroonwitchawan T, Hiengrach P,

Chatthanathon P, et al. Leaky-gut enhanced lupus progression in the Fc gamma receptor-IIb deficient and pristane-induced mouse models of lupus. Sci Rep. 2020;10(1):777.

165. Ondee T, Surawut S, Taratummarat S, Hirankarn N, Palaga T, Pisitkun P, et al. Fc Gamma Receptor IIB Deficient Mice: A Lupus Model with Increased Endotoxin Tolerance-Related Sepsis Susceptibility. Shock. 2017;47(6):743-52.

166. Issara-Amphorn J, Chancharoenthana W, Visitchanakun P, Leelahavanichkul A. Syk Inhibitor Attenuates Polymicrobial Sepsis in FcgRIIb-Deficient Lupus Mouse Model, the Impact of Lupus Characteristics in Sepsis. J Innate Immun. 2020:1-19.

167. Dang CP, Leelahavanichkul A. Over-expression of miR-223 induces M2 macrophage through glycolysis alteration and attenuates LPS-induced sepsis mouse model, the cell-based therapy in sepsis. PLoS One. 2020;15(7):e0236038.

168. Rittirsch D, Flierl MA, Day DE, Nadeau BA, Zetoune FS, Sarma JV, et al. Cross-talk between TLR4 and FcgammaReceptorIII (CD16) pathways. PLoS Pathog. 2009;5(6):e1000464.

169. Deng GM, Tsokos GC. Cholera toxin B accelerates disease progression in lupusprone mice by promoting lipid raft aggregation. J Immunol. 2008;181(6):4019-26.

170. Podolska MJ, Biermann MH, Maueröder C, Hahn J, Herrmann M. Inflammatory etiopathogenesis of systemic lupus erythematosus: an update. J Inflamm Res. 2015;8:161-71.

171. Stewart R, Hammond SA, Oberst M, Wilkinson RW. The role of Fc gamma receptors in the activity of immunomodulatory antibodies for cancer. Journal for ImmunoTherapy of Cancer. 2014;2(1):29.

172. Jiang XQ, Mei XD, Feng D. Air pollution and chronic airway diseases: what should people know and do? J Thorac Dis. 2016;8(1):E31-40.

173. Kurt OK, Zhang J, Pinkerton KE. Pulmonary health effects of air pollution. Curr

Opin Pulm Med. 2016;22(2):138-43.

174. Gao N, Xu W, Ji J, Yang Y, Wang ST, Wang J, et al. Lung function and systemic inflammation associated with short-term air pollution exposure in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease patients in Beijing, China. Environ Health. 2020;19(1):12.

175. Dennehy KM, Ferwerda G, Faro-Trindade I, Pyz E, Willment JA, Taylor PR, et al. Syk kinase is required for collaborative cytokine production induced through Dectin-1 and Toll-like receptors. Eur J Immunol. 2008;38(2):500-6.

176. Domínguez-Acosta O, Vega L, Estrada-Muñiz E, Rodríguez MS, Gonzalez FJ, Elizondo G. Activation of aryl hydrocarbon receptor regulates the LPS/IFNγ-induced inflammatory response by inducing ubiquitin-proteosomal and lysosomal degradation of RelA/p65. Biochem Pharmacol. 2018;155:141-9.

177. Knapp AC, Huang J, Starling G, Kiener PA. Inhibitors of HMG-CoA reductase sensitize human smooth muscle cells to Fas-ligand and cytokine-induced cell death. Atherosclerosis. 2000;152(1):217-27.

178. Bretz JD, Mezosi E, Giordano TJ, Gauger PG, Thompson NW, Baker JR, Jr. Inflammatory cytokine regulation of TRAIL-mediated apoptosis in thyroid epithelial cells. Cell Death Differ. 2002;9(3):274-86.

179. Yamaoka J, Kabashima K, Kawanishi M, Toda K, Miyachi Y. Cytotoxicity of IFNgamma and TNF-alpha for vascular endothelial cell is mediated by nitric oxide. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2002;291(4):780-6.

180. Koenderman L. Inside-Out Control of Fc-Receptors. Front Immunol. 2019;10:544. 181. Issara-Amphorn J, Somboonna N, Pisitkun P, Hirankarn N, Leelahavanichkul A. Syk inhibitor attenuates inflammation in lupus mice from FcgRIIb deficiency but not in pristane induction: the influence of lupus pathogenesis on the therapeutic effect. Lupus. 2020;29(10):1248-62.

182. Tsokos GC, Lo MS, Costa Reis P, Sullivan KE. New insights into the

immunopathogenesis of systemic lupus erythematosus. Nat Rev Rheumatol. 2016;12(12):716-30.

183. Eppensteiner J, Kwun J, Scheuermann U, Barbas A, Limkakeng AT, Kuchibhatla M, et al. Damage- and pathogen-associated molecular patterns play differential roles in late mortality after critical illness. JCI Insight. 2019;4(16).

184. Marinković N, Pasalić D, Potocki S. Polymorphisms of genes involved in polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons' biotransformation and atherosclerosis. Biochem Med (Zagreb). 2013;23(3):255-65.

185. Pernomian L, da Silva C. Current basis for discovery and development of aryl hydrocarbon receptor antagonists for experimental and therapeutic use in atherosclerosis. Eur J Pharmacol. 2015;764:118-23.

186. Neavin DR, Liu D, Ray B, Weinshilboum RM. The Role of the Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor (AHR) in Immune and Inflammatory Diseases. Int J Mol Sci. 2018;19(12).



Chulalongkorn University
VITA

NAME	Kanyarat Udompornpitak
DATE OF BIRTH	04 July 1994
PLACE OF BIRTH	Bangkok
HOME ADDRESS	50/22 Ratchaprarop Rd, Thanon Phaya Tha, Ratchathewi,
	Bangkok 10400
PUBLICATION	1. Lipopolysaccharide-Enhanced Responses against Aryl
	Hydrocarbon Receptor in FcgRIIb-Deficient Macrophages, a
	Profound Impact of an Environmental Toxin on a Lupus-
-	Like Mouse Model (https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms22084199)
_	2. The influence of Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in
	C57BL/6 mice การประชุมวิชาการระดับชาติ ครั้งที่ 17
	มหาวิทยาลัยเกษตรศาสตร์ วิทยาเขตกำแพงแสน
0	A CONTRACTOR OF THE OWNER OWNER OWNER OF THE OWNER OWNE OWNER OWNE
จุฬ	าลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย
	alongkorn University